

University of Tennessee, Knoxville TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange

Masters Theses

Graduate School

12-2020

Coffee Supply Chain Planning under Climate Change

Rui Zhou University of Tennessee, rzhou7@vols.utk.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_gradthes

Recommended Citation

Zhou, Rui, "Coffee Supply Chain Planning under Climate Change. " Master's Thesis, University of Tennessee, 2020. https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_gradthes/6116

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. For more information, please contact trace@utk.edu.

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a thesis written by Rui Zhou entitled "Coffee Supply Chain Planning under Climate Change." I have examined the final electronic copy of this thesis for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science, with a major in Industrial Engineering.

Mingzhou Jin, Yaoping Wang, Major Professor

We have read this thesis and recommend its acceptance:

Xueping Li, James Ostrowski

Accepted for the Council: <u>Dixie L. Thompson</u>

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)

Coffee Supply Chain Planning under Climate Change

Thesis Presented for the

Master of Science

Degree

The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

Rui Zhou

December 2020

Abstract

Coffee is a valuable crop for many tropical countries and provides an export value estimated at US\$30.1 billion in 2019 worldwide. Coffee trees are climate sensitive. Published studies show that climate change is projected to have a negative impact on suitable growing areas for coffee beans, so the coffee bean production is facing a rising risk. At the same time, the consumption of coffee is increasing in recent years, especially in Asian countries. Therefore, the sustainability of the coffee industry has become a concern shared by all participants along the coffee supply chains. Decision making in arabica coffee bean cultivation, which includes longterm shade management and short-term annual management practices (e.g., fertilization management and irrigation management), and logistics is focused in this study on a global scale. Two-stage stochastic programming is adopted to minimize the total cost, including cultivation cost, roasting cost, shortage cost, and logistics cost under different climate scenarios.

A case study for a global coffee beverage company is presented with data collected from both practice and literature. The arabica coffee species distribution model by citation (Ovalle-Rivera et al., 2015) shows that the suitable harvesting area will decrease due to climate change in most of the coffee growing countries by 2050. This study tries to answer the questions of whether arabica coffee yield will meet the consumption demand in the future. To increase the arabica coffee yield, medium-level shade management is a possible long-term strategy while management practices may be changed based on weather. To have a substantiable coffee supply chain, the global coffee beverage companies have programs to help coffee farmers through technical assistance and financial support. In addition, local governments may also provide support to farmers, such as educational programs, working condition improvement, and medical service. **Keywords**: coffee supply chain, climate change, agriculture management practices, optimization, two-stage stochastic programming, sustainability

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	Intro	oduction1
2	Lite	rature Review
	2.1	Climate Change Studies of Coffee Production
	2.2	Sustainable Supply Chain Management in the Coffee Industry7
	2.3	Sustainable Supply Chain Modeling Approaches10
3	Cof	fee Supply Chain Planning with Uncertainties13
	3.1	Problem Description
	3.2	Variables Definition for Supply Chain
	3.3	Two-Stage Stochastic Model
4	Data	a and Parameters Setting
	4.1	Global Coffee Bean Supply Chain
	4.2	Data Sources
	4.3	Scenarios Generation
5	Nur	nerical Experiments
	5.1	Future Yield Prediction
	5.2	Comparison under Different Climate Scenarios
	5.3	Parameters Sensitivity Analysis
6	Dise	cussion
	6.1	Suitability Policy Recommendations for Coffee Supply Chain Management

6.2	Future Improvement	
7 Co	onclusion	
Referer	nces	
Append	lix	
VITA		

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4-1 Data Sources 24
Table 4-2 Unit shade management and management practices cost
Table 4-3 Harvesting areas and annul exported coffee beans of suppliers
Table 5-1 Historical yield per hectare trendline equation
Table 5-2 Performance of the Maxent model across 10 replicates 34
Table 5-3 Changes in suitability and area (ha) of arabica coffee in 5 supply countries by 2050s 35
Tables in Appendix
Table A - 1 Colombia predicted coffee bean yield (Tons) from 2021-2050 54
Table A - 2 Brazil predicted coffee bean yield (Tons) from 2021-2050 55
Table A - 3 Honduras predicted coffee bean yield (Tons) from 2021-2050 56
Table A - 4 Peru predicted coffee bean yield (Tons) from 2021-2050
Table A - 5 Ethiopia predicted coffee bean yield (Tons) from 2021-2050 58
Table A - 6 Suitable harvested area (ha) from 2021 to 2050
Table A - 7 Unit roasting cost in roasting centers 60
Table A - 8 Unit ocean shipping cost (\$/kg) from source countries to ports
Table A - 9 Unit transportation cost (\$/kg) from ports to roasting centers
Table A - 10 Unit transportation cost (\$/kg) from roasting centers to states
Table A - 11 Annual percentage of coffee beans exported
Table A - 12 Coffee beans demand in state in 2021 62
Table A - 13 Percentage of coffee beans exported to the United States
Table A - 14 Number of Starbucks locations by state 64
Table A - 15 Roasting center capacity in 2021

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1 (A) Full Sun Plantation. (B) Shade Plantation
Figure 3-1 Coffee Bean Supply Chain
Figure 4-1 Top 5 Coffee Bean Exporting Countries for Starbucks
Figure 5-1 Detrended Honduras predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-
2050
Figure 5-2 Honduras predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-2050 28
Figure 5-3 Detrended Peru predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-2050
Figure 5-4 Peru predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-2050 28
Figure 5-5 Detrended Colombia predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-
2050
Figure 5-6 Colombia predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-2050 29
Figure 5-7 Detrended Brazil predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-2050
Figure 5-8 Brazil predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-2050 30
Figure 5-9 Detrended Ethiopia predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-
2050
Figure 5-10 Ethiopia predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-2050 30
Figure 5-11 R-squared of KNN regression for arabica coffee bean yield per hectare prediction 31
Figure 5-12 Suitable locations used for analysis and suitable locations for arabica coffee in 2050
Figure 5-13 Management practices planning under RCP45 path and RCP85 path

Figure 5-14 Starbucks coffee bean supply chain	logistics network
--	-------------------

1 Introduction

Coffee is one of the most popular beverages around the world. According to the Coffee Market reports from the International Coffee Organization (ICO, 2020), the growth of coffee consumption in Asia, Oceania and Africa is outpacing other regions and leads to the increase of the global demand in coffee bean every year. However, world coffee bean exports have decreased by 5.8% in 2019/2020, and world coffee production decreased by 0.9%, especially the decline by 3.2% in South American. Arabica coffee, which accounts for 70% global coffee production, could decrease by 50% or more by 2088 under all available future projections based on multiple general circulation models (GCMs), emission scenarios and migration scenarios (Moat et al., 2019). The International Union for Conservation of Nature found that 60% of all coffee species are facing a high risk of extinction, threatened by climate change and deforestation, and many original protected areas would not be suitable for coffee trees growing in the future (Rodríguez, 2019).

Arabica coffee has been proven highly sensitive to climate change. The optimal growing temperature is 18~24 °C, and precipitation is 1,200-2,200 mm per year. The variability of climate has been the main factor for the yield decline of arabica coffee beans in many coffee growing regions (Davis et al., 2012; Jassogne et al., 2013; Bunn et al., 2015; Craparo et al., 2015; Bunn et al., 2018). Data-driven research indicates that there is a 137 \pm 16.78 kg/ha annual yield decline with every 1°C rise in minimal temperature, and the average production will drop to 145 \pm 41 kg/ha by 2060 (Craparo, 2015). Lots of plantations are suffering from vulnerable yield, especially small farms in the developing countries. Preserving coffee species should not be burned by farmers alone, the entire coffee community should contribute.

Sustainable coffee bean production has been discussed by academia, governments, international coffee organizations, and private sectors. International Coffee Agreement 2007

pointed out that sustainability regulation on the coffee industry should focus on environmental governance, economic, and social terms (ICO, 2007). Farmers, government agents, and global coffee companies share a collective enthusiasm for the coffee bean sustainability (Arifin, 2010). Majority of coffee plantations are owned by smallholders, who lack of technologies and capital. Fortunately, to enhance sustainability, some global coffee beverage companies like Starbucks is taking farmer's interest into account and starting to provide them financial and technical support (Starbucks, 2020).

Coffee farming systems can not only help to increase the yield of coffee beans but also improve farmers' livelihoods and local biodiversity. One of the most essential and traditional cultivation systems of coffee growing is shade tree management shown in Figure 1-1.



А

В

Figure 1-1 (A) Full Sun Plantation. (B) Shade Plantation *Source: (How Coffee Is Made – 15 Steps From Seed To Cup; Coffee bushes in a shade-grown organic coffee plantation on the Stock Photo: 66288543 - Alamy)

Native trees are used to provide natural nutrition and suitable canopy for coffee trees. The recommended shade level varies with the altitudes, soil topography, climate, and available labor of the coffee plantations (Souza, 2000). Although some research shows that from the 1990s and the 2010s, coffee harvesting under the shade system was decreasing in lots of coffee growing regions such as Colombia, Brazil, and Mexico, the shade system is still an economical and potentially effective strategy to help farmers in the areas where the crop plants might face extremes climate (Lin, 2007). Diversified shade systems are needed for the sustainability of coffee landscapes and are able to promote greater resilience to global markets and climate changes (Jha et al., 2014).

The application of fertilization is also crucial for coffee productivity, whose effectiveness depends on various factors, including the type of production system, coffee variety, age of coffee

trees, and soil fertility status (Melke et al., 2014). Nitrogen (N) demand is the highest among all types of soil nutrients, and N absorption is fundamental for plant growth that can influence coffee bean yield. Ideal N fertilizer use can reduce production cost and environmental impact while increasing the production of coffee beans (Bruno et al., 2011).

Decreased precipitation and more evapotranspiration demand more irrigation due to air temperature rise (Fares et al., 2016). The adoption of irrigation also has a positive effect on plant height, crown diameter and stalk diameter for the long-term performance of coffee trees. What's more, irrigation provides a more controlled production environment and avoids the production loss due to soil water deficits for coffee trees. Coffee yield is higher with irrigation than non-irrigated treatment since irrigated treatment has greater root concentrations. The average yield of irrigated coffee is 2,623 kg/ha, while the number without irrigation is 1,026 kg/ha. (Sakai et al., 2015).

While promising, we notice that most research focuses on either how climate change affects coffee species distribution or the relationship between coffee yield and different agriculture systems. Considering sustainable coffee industry development needs support from farmers, governments, international organizations, private coffee companies and even customers but missing in the literature is critical to a systematic understanding on the interactions among all participators the balance of all the needs. To address this research gap, we develop a two-stage stochastic model to study the optimal coffee supply chain planning under different climate scenarios considering both farmers' and coffee beverage companies' costs and give some policy recommendations in sustainable coffee development for every participator.

This study is organized as follows: Section 2 reviews the previous studies related to the climate change impact on coffee, sustainable management in the coffee industry, and three sustainable supply chain modeling approaches. In Section 3, we propose a two-stage stochastic

formulation of the coffee supply chain planning problem under various climate scenarios. In Section 4 and Section 5, we use a real-world case to present the experimental results. First, we predict future arabica coffee production under different climate scenarios in those arabica coffee beans supply countries. Second, assessing the effectiveness of different shade management levels and yearly fertilization and irrigation input planning, and getting the optimal global coffee bean logistics. Section 6 discusses the implication of this study on policies for farmers, coffee beverage companies and government agents, then discuss future work. Finally, Section 7 concludes this thesis.

2 Literature Review

2.1 Climate Change Studies of Coffee Production

The effects of the variability of climate factors, such as air temperature, solar radiation, relative humidity, and rainfall on arabica coffee already shown in some regions. Climate change could lead to the establishment of a coffee plantation to new areas and may have conflicts with other natural forests, with have negative implications for biodiversity and ecosystem.

The suitable arabica coffee cultivation areas will lose 56% (\pm 7%) by 2050 (especially in Brazil, East Africa, and Madagascar) while the future suitable regions of robust coffee will extend more than double, and the major suitable areas will locate in forested locations. In Brazil, higher temperatures and dry conditions during growing seasons may harm coffee production and quality and cause a sharp decrease in production and suitable areas. In extrema cases, the temperatures can reach 40 °C occurs on sunny days in unshaded crops. The coffee yield during 2011-2100 under two greenhouse concentration scenarios: RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 will decrease 25% by the end of the twenty-first century, and the areas fully adequate will move to higher altitude regions. In Haiti, climate changed also has a negative impact on coffee production in the short-mid & long-term. The suitable climate area for both production and spatial statistics using Geographical Information System (GIS) shows that the change in temperature and precipitation will lead to coffee lose suitability in lower altitudes. In Kenya, the optimal altitude for arabica coffee will increase 200 m.a.s.l by 2050 due to increasing temperature. In Colombia, to maintain coffee yield, arabica plantations would have to be moved by 167 m in altitude for every 1 °C increase of temperature. (Camargo, 2010b; Eitzinger et al., 2013; GIZ, 2011; Magrach et al., 2015; Tavares et al., 2018)

Climate change and variability also increase the risk of coffee pests and diseases, which can reduce coffee yield and quality and increase production cost. For smallholder coffee plantations in Africa, Asia, and Latin America, the effect of coffee berry disease and coffee leaf rust would be worse since they lack alternative economic options. In Zimbabwe, some species distribution modeling approaches like Boosted Regression Trees and Generalized Linear Models show that the precipitation related variables are the most critical factors of the distribution of coffee white stem borer. In East Africa, using the CLIMEX model to forecast the future distribution of *H.hample*, the coffee berry borer, under different scenarios (A2A and B2B for the HADCM3 model) and the result shows that the situation is worsening and the number of *H.hample* generations increases every year (Jaramillo et al., 2011; Kutywayo et al., 2013; Mafusire et al., 2010).

2.2 Sustainable Supply Chain Management in the Coffee Industry

Sustainable supply chain management is the management of information, finance, and material among the supply chain processing that meets the needs of present economically, environmentally, and socially friendly (Seuring et al., 2008). The food industry is a very dynamic industry with highly changeable customer demands, and the production origin, inputs, and labor are becoming more concerned, which connects every member among the food supply chain to collaborate to come up with more adaptation strategies (Beske et al., 2014). Sustainability helps stakeholders in the coffee supply chain network to have cost-effective and environmentally-friendly harvesting, appreciate farmers' rights, and offer higher quality coffee products for customers (Wahyudi et al., 2012). Sustainable Coffee Challenge Organization establishes a sustainability framework that consists of farmers' livelihoods, nature conservation, supply sustainability, and market demand strengthening (Sustainable Coffee Challenge). To sum up, three aspects: farming system prevalence, environmental management, and social responsibilities focused on sustainable coffee supply chain network as follows:

About farming system prevalence, implementing different farming systems associated with shade management and management practices such as fertilization and irrigation are important methods for crop harvesting and has been concerned a lot in academia. Comparing the benefits of exotic versus native shade trees on coffee production and evaluate the relevance of shade trees and management practices on it, and the result indicates that vast diversity and density of flora can decrease production, while irrigation can increase production by 16% (Boreux et al., 2016). The primary biochemical composition of fertilizer includes nitrogen, photophores, potassium fertilizer, and the fertilization types are organic and inorganic (Verhage et al., 2017; VINECKY et al., 2017). Most of the research focuses on the interaction of different levels of shade with different levels of fertilization and irrigation management on coffee production, flavor, and quality. In small-scale Peruvian coffee systems, medium-shade plantations have higher gross revenues and coffee yields. There are no differences between net income and benefit-cost ratio with different shade management but lower with higher input practices. In the dry and hot region of southwest China, the irrigation amount of 80% full irrigation and high N input had higher arabica coffee yield and quality (Jezeer et al., 2018a; Liu et al., 2016).

Environmental management has also played an essential role in reducing negative climate change impact, including water conservation, forest conservation, and restoration. First, water plays a crucial role in the growth and development of coffee trees. As a result of water risk due to climate change, water management becomes more critical. It is increasingly difficult for coffee farmers to get enough water due to the environmental degradation, climate change, and inappropriate water resources use. Therefore, building more water instruments is crucial to deal with those issues. The utilization of chemical input will cause water pollution. Native tree species are the most effective for protecting water resources (Cerdán et al., 2012; Quiroga et al., 2015).

Second, although coffee yield might decrease under the high-density shade, native forest trees can protect coffee trees, habitat for animals, and additional income for farmers. By restoring forests, the coffee industry can grow benefits now and future, for both farmers and the planet. Large basal diameters and a high number of secondary orthotropic shoots have a higher yield. Comparing with traditional coffee cultivation, which is associated with low tree species diversity and simple forest structure, climax species, and suitable trees should be planted with longer-living climax species to maintain coffee productivity, and they are essential for the preservation of forest cover and biodiversity (Aerts et al., 2011).

In the social responsibility's aspect, livelihoods improvement, fair-trade certified coffee, and sustainability in coffee consumption are concerned a lot. The livelihoods of smallholder farmers had been affected a lot due to extreme weather events. Bielecki et al. (2019) present a qualitative study of smallholder farmers' decision process who are struggling with the negative effect on coffee production due to climate change. They come up with a livelihood's framework including three stages, and the first stage is analyzing the producers' context (e.g., history, politics, *etc.*), resources, institutions, and organizations, the second stage is analyzing the vulnerabilities in context, the third stage is analyzing the response to vulnerabilities. Harvey et al. (2018) survey 860 smallholder farmers in six Central American nations and find out that they are hindered by the lack of information on how to respond to climate change, even though they have observed the rising temperature, changeable precipitation, and some other extreme weather. Helps in climate adaptation policies and programs form governments and practitioners are very needed.

Fairtrade is made to improve products' values from small-scale producers in developing countries. There are a minimum price and a social premium to buy the fair-trade certified products, and buyers also have a long-term contract with producers. Comparing many effects on production,

sales and participation of fair-trade organic coffee vs. non-Fair-trade and conventional coffee, the long-term fair-trade certified coffee has a positive effect on the coffee price, trade volumes, and higher entrepreneurial capacity (Dragusanu et al., 2014; Elder et al., 2012; Ruben et al. 2012).

Members in the coffee supply chain are not only caring about the origins of coffee beans, but they are also making an effort in the sustainability of coffee consumption. Starbucks is planning to build 10,000 green retail stores by 2025, recycle coffee cups by 2022, and operate 100% renewable energy by 2020. They also create opportunities for everyone in the communities they serve. They are also customizing benefits for their partners worldwide, providing college education through the Starbucks College Achievement Plan, hiring veterans and military, and providing jobs for youth between 16-24 who are disconnected from school and work (Starbucks Report).

2.3 Sustainable Supply Chain Modeling Approaches

Sustainable supply chain management has caught up much attention in both the academic and corporate field in recent years. It makes companies cooperate responsibility to achieve higher efficiency in logistics performance and resource usage with condensing the three dimensions of sustainability: economic, social, and environmental goals. The incentives of SSCM includes legal demands, customer demands, response to stakeholders, competitive advantages, environmental and social pressure, and reputation loss. Five methodologies are applied: theoretical and conceptual papers, case studies, surveys, modeling, and literature review. In SSCM, social impacts usually are evaluated before they are integrated into modeling approaches because they are hard to evaluate. Life-cycle assessment-based models mainly consider environmental dimensions. Economic dimensions are related to cost and revenue dominate, and some of the analytical hierarchy process papers are talking about this (Beske et al., 2014; Seuring, 2013; Seuring et al., 2008). The framework of sustainable supply chain modeling approaches is showing as follows:

Life cycle assessment refers to "compilation and evaluation of the inputs and outputs and the potential environmental impacts of a product system throughout its life cycle" (International Organization for Standardization, 2006). In the last decade, LCA was concerned about a different level of products, sectors, and economies. For the next stage, a life-cycle assessment will develop from traditional environmental LCA to a more comprehensive life-cycle sustainability assessment (people, planet, and prosperity) within recent years. LCA-based models usually assess environmental impacts along a supply chain and minimize them and form a background with other research approaches, providing the product optimization perspective on a general supply chain wide aspects (Simonen, 2014). The life cycle of coffee includes cultivation, milling, and roasting. Nowadays, people are researching carbon dioxide footprint, energy potential, and waste in coffee LCA. More details will be discussed in the next section.

The Equilibrium model is a standard modeling technique to balance environmental and economic factors and find an equilibrium or optimal solution, which simultaneously study three decision-makers: manufacturers, retailers, and consumers. Nonlinear complementarity problems formulations, and smoothing Newton algorithms are applied as solution methods for solving these models (Hosseini et al., 2019). The lean and green supply chain methods are applied to evaluate the performance of a supply chain from both managerial and environmental viewpoints, which build on three aspects: LCA, supply chain return on assets, and customer satisfaction. Using thermodynamic input-output analysis to determine the reliance of industrial networks in natural and economic capitals helps industrial sustainability metrics restructuring. The supply chain models with numerous decision-makers and associated with environmental concerns can be formulated, analyzed and solved qualitatively by using a time adjustment process disequilibrium dynamics model (Kainuma et al., 2006; Nagurney et al., 2003; Ukidwe et al., 2005)

Multi-criteria decision-making methods focus on trade-off among conflicting objectives based on societal decisions compared with the equilibrium situation. The analytic network process, decision-making trial, and evaluation laboratory technique were combined as a hybrid multicriteria decision-making model for international trade practices. Multi-criteria decision analysis techniques and spatial analysis were combined to assess soil contamination risk and vulnerability. The vulnerability assessment results support the regional risk assessment at a regional scale for the ranking of potentially contaminated sites (Wang, 2012; Zabeo et al., 2011).

3 Coffee Supply Chain Planning with Uncertainties

3.1 **Problem Description**

There are two main parts of the coffee bean supply chain: cultivation and logistics. First, farmers play the most important role in cultivation, and they will be involved in every step of the coffee growing and processing. During the harvesting seasons, they will pluck the coffee cherries by hands from coffee trees and then process them to green coffee beans for selling. Global coffee beverage companies will buy those green coffee beans from the local farms directly or some other big secondary coffee cooperatives. After that, green coffee beans are exported to consumer countries oversea for roasting in the roasting centers, and then roasted coffee beans will be sent to retailer stores. Global coffee beverage companies usually handle logistics. Figure 3-1 illustrates the coffee bean supply chain.

3.2 Variables Definition for Supply Chain

A stochastic program combing cultivation and logistics are proposed in this section. The goal is to find the best shade management, management practices and logistics network under different climate scenarios, with the minimum total cost for farmers and coffee companies. The two-stage stochastic programming is introduced first for a farming arrangement under climate and demand uncertainties. After that, we can describe the logistics flows, a set of sources and their supplies, a set of destination and their demand, and the variable cost of labor and fertilizer input associated with each source-destination pair.

The model considers N coffee bean source countries (*j* as its index) during *T* years (*t* as its index). The coffee bean cultivation area in country *j* is A_j , which is assumed to remain constant. Farmers in each country have E = 4 shade management options (*e* as its index), full sun, low shade, medium shade and high shade. Therefore, in the first stage, farmers decide σ percentage area that



Figure 3-1 Coffee Bean Supply Chain

uses shade management *e* that is adopted in source country *j*, σ_{je} . The shade management are longterm decisions due to its large financial and time investment so that made at the beginning of the planning horizon. In each year, farmers also make fertilization management decisions. The management practices decisions could be adjusted based on weather conditions such as temperature and precipitation in this growing region. Consider *S* set of climate scenarios *s*, $s \in S$. Using p^s to represent the probability of climate scenario *s*. This study considers Q = 4 management practices options (*q* as its index), no fertilization and no irrigation, no fertilization but irrigation, fertilization but no irrigation, both fertilization and irrigation. Therefore, in the second stage, farmers decide θ percentage area that uses fertilization management q in country j in year t under climate scenario s, θ_{jtq}^{s} .

Yield is a key parameter in the optimization model and must be calculated prior to solve the optimization problem. The yield of each country *j* in year *t* under climate scenario *s*, applying shade management e and management practices q, is considered to be the sum of two parts: the base yield, Y_{jte}^{s} , which is only affected by the shade management, and the additional yield, B_{jtq}^{s} , which is the marginal effect of management practices and the effect between shade, fertilization, and irrigation. The base yield (kg/ha) obtained in coffee beans source country i depends on the decisions on shade management e, which is the yield per hectare multiplied by suitable growing areas and a ratio. Using the projections of climate models, we can calculate the time series of future yield per hectare under the assumption of historical levels of coffee growing seasons monthly average temperature and precipitation using the regression relationship (de Oliveira Aparecidolim et al., 2017). To simplify the decision problem, the time series of future yield per hectare is further converted to time series of yield, using an appropriate threshold (e.g., historical average yield in the country). The joint probability distribution of future yield per hectare is unknown. However, different climate model simulations sample the joint probability distribution of the time series of future temperature, precipitation translates into samples from the joint probability distribution of future base yields. The future suitable growing areas can be obtained using a species distribution model. Additional parameter uncertainty can be considered in the impact of fertilizer and irrigation inputs on yield. Fertilizer and irrigation inputs are modeled as recourse options that can be used to further increase future yields to meet the coffee demand. The additional yield (kg/ha) that can be obtained in coffee beans source country j depends on the decisions on management practices q. Later, we will talk about the cost of cultivation.

As we discussed, the cost of coffee bean cultivation involves two parts. The first part involves the one-time fixed cost (β /ha) associated with investing in coffee shade management. F_e denotes the unit fixed cost (β /ha/y) by using shade management e. The second part involves the annual horizon variable cost of labor and associated with implementing fertilizer and irrigation input. G_q denotes the unit variable cost (β /ha/y) by using management practices q. Overall the cultivation involves making two stages decisions based on scenarios of the future yield of coffee beans and the cost of different options as discussed above. After cultivation, green coffee beans will be shipped to the consumer countries. Next, we will talk about logistics.

3.3 Two-Stage Stochastic Model

The following paragraphs are focusing on the logistics of coffee beans from source countries to retailer stores in consumer countries. The logistics involves three processing flows. Demands need to be fulfilled all the time, and inventory is not considered. First, an annual percentage I_j of coffee beans produced in coffee beans source country j is exported to the consumer countries. P_j is the percentage of the arabica coffee beans in coffee beans source country j exported to the United States. I_j and P_j is assumed to be a fixed number for each country j every year. The product of I_j and P_j represented by V_j is the final percentage of arabica coffee beans exported from each country j to the U.S. Green coffee beans are shipped to port l ($l \in \{1, ..., L\}$, L is the total numbers of the roasting center r in year t is C_{rt} . The unit roasting cost of roasting centers r is Q_r . Third, the roasted coffee beans are sent to state m ($m \in \{1, ..., M\}$) in the U.S. by trucks. The number of kilogram roasted coffee beans are sonumed in state m in year t is D_{mt} .

The logistics cost is the unit transportation cost multiplied by transported coffee bean volume, which is calculated as follows for all of the processing flows.

1. The cost of shipping from source country *j* at port *l* in the destination countries is $W_{jl} \times h_{jlt}^s$ (\$), where h_{jlt}^s (kg) is the coffee beans import from source country *j* at port *l* in year *t* under climate scenario *s*, and W_{jl} (\$/kg) is the unit ocean shipping cost from source country *j* to port *l*.

2. The cost of shipping from port *l* to roasting center *r* is $J_{lr} \times u_{lrt}^{s}$ (\$), where u_{lrt}^{s} (kg) is the coffee beans transported form port *l* to roasting center *r* in year *t* under climate scenario *s*, J_{lr} (\$/kg) is the unit truck transportation cost from port *l* to roasting plant *r*. The unit roasting cost in roasting center *r* is Q_r . The total cost of roasting in roasting center *r* in year *t* under climate scenario *s* is H_{rt}^{s} (\$).

3. The cost of shipping from the roasting center *r* to state *m* is $K_{rm} \times x_{rmt}^{s}$ (\$), where x_{rmt}^{s} (kg) is the roasted coffee beans shipped from roasting center *r* to retail stores in state *m* in year *t* under climate scenario *s*, K_{rm} (\$/kg) is the unit truck transportation cost from roasting center *r* to state *m*.

Transportation loss is also associated with each processing flow. Before ocean shipping, the loss in the coffee beans is the sum of the annual processing loss in coffee beans in coffee beans source country *j* and the annual storage loss in source country *j*. During ocean shipping, there is an annual coffee bean loss (%) from source country *j* to the ports, and *Z* (%) coffee bean will be left after subtracting the total loss before roasting. After arriving in the U.S., Υ (%) roasted coffee beans will be left after subtracting the loss during roasting process in roasting centers.

When the arabica coffee bean supply cannot meet the demand, the coffee beverage company will have shortage O_{mt}^s (kg) in state *m* in year *t* under climate scenario *s*. *P* (\$/kg) is the

profit rate, in this study we use a big number in the calculation. The shortage cost will also be considered in the objective function.

The overall objective function combines the total cost of both farmers and coffee companies can be represented as follow:

$$\operatorname{Min} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{e=1}^{E} F_{e} \sigma_{je} A_{j} + p^{s} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \sum_{s=1}^{S} (\sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{q=1}^{Q} G_{q} \theta_{jtq}^{s} A_{j} + \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{l=1}^{L} h_{jlt}^{s} W_{jl} + \sum_{l=1}^{L} \sum_{r=1}^{R} u_{lrt}^{s} J_{lr} + \sum_{r=1}^{R} \sum_{m=1}^{M} x_{rmt}^{s} K_{rm} + H_{rt}^{s} + P \sum_{m=1}^{M} O_{mt}^{s})$$
(1)

s.t.

$$Z \cdot V_j(\sum_{e=1}^E Y_{jte}^s \sigma_{je} + \sum_{q=1}^Q B_{jtq}^s \theta_{jtq}^s) \ge \sum_{l=1}^L h_{jlt}^s \qquad \forall s, \forall t, \forall j$$
(2)

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} h_{jlt}^{s} \ge \sum_{r=1}^{R} u_{lrt}^{s} \qquad \qquad \forall s, \forall t, \forall l \qquad (3)$$

$$\Upsilon \cdot \sum_{l=1}^{L} u_{tlr}^{s} \ge \sum_{m=1}^{M} x_{rmt}^{s} \qquad \forall s, \forall t, \forall r \qquad (4)$$

$$\sum_{l=1}^{L} u_{lrt}^{s} \le C_{rt} \qquad \qquad \forall s, \forall t, \forall r \qquad (5)$$

$$\sum_{r=1}^{R} x_{rmt}^{s} + O_{mt}^{s} \ge D_{mt} \qquad \qquad \forall s, \forall t, \forall m \qquad (6)$$

$$Q_r \cdot \sum_{l=1}^{L} u_{lrt}^s = H_{rt}^s \qquad \forall s, \forall t, \forall r \qquad (7)$$

$$\sum_{e=1}^{E} \sigma_{je} = 1 \qquad \qquad \forall j \tag{8}$$

$$\sum_{q=1}^{Q} \theta_{jtq}^{s} = 1 \qquad \qquad \forall s, \forall t, \forall j \qquad (9)$$

$$\sigma_{je}, \theta_{jtq}^s, h_{jlt}^s, u_{lrt}^s, q_{rt}^s, x_{rmt}^s \ge 0$$
⁽¹⁰⁾

The overall objective function (1) minimizes the total cost. One part is the objective of the two-stage stochastic programming model, which is to minimize the total cultivation cost. The total cultivation cost includes the fixed cost at the first stage by using different coffee shade management, which is $F_e \times \sigma_{je} \times A_j$, and the variable cost by using different fertilizer levels at the second stage, which is $G_q \times \theta_{jtq}^s \times A_j$. Another part is the total transportation cost $h_{jlt}^s W_{jl}$ +

 $u_{lrt}^{s} J_{lr} + u_{lrt}^{s} J_{lr}$, the total roasting cost of roasting centers, which is H_{rt} , and the shortage cost $P \times O_{mt}^{s}$.

Constraint set (2) makes sure that, the sum of base yield and additional yield, multiplied by left percentage with processing loss and the annual percentage of coffee beans exported in all source country, should greater than or equal to the import demand of coffee companies in that source country under climate scenario s. Constraints (3)-(6) are among the standard constraints in the logistics model. Constraint (3) makes sure that coffee beans imported from source countries at the U.S. ports under different climate scenario s must be great than or equal to the coffee beans transported from ports to roasting centers. Roasted coffee beans transported from ports to roasting centers must be equal to the roasted coffee beans shipped from the roasting center to retail stores under climate scenario s, restricted by constraint (4). Constraint (5) is used to guarantee the roasted coffee beans at the roasting centers do not exceed the capacity of roasting centers. Constraint (6) makes sure that the roasted coffee beans shipped from the roasting centers to retail stores at states add shortage to meet the consumer demand. Constraint (7) guarantees the total roasting cost equals unit roasting cost times the roasted coffee beans shipped from roasting center r to retail stores in state m in year t under climate scenario s. Constraint set (8) and (9) make sure that the total area that uses coffee shade management e, and the total area that uses management practice q should be equal to 100% in the same country.

4 Data and Parameters Setting

4.1 Global Coffee Bean Supply Chain

In this section, the proposed two-stage stochastic program is applied to Starbucks, which occupies around 40% of the coffee industry business in the U.S. (Statista, 2020), as a case for global coffee supply chain. Starbucks is one of the most successful and popular coffee companies around the world. In the United States, Starbucks operates 15,149 coffee shops as March 2020. The goal is to evaluate the future decision making of technical support, financial investment and logistics under different climate scenarios for Starbucks. Please note that this study was not a collaboration with Starbucks and all data about the company were obtained from publishing available sources.

Starbucks imports coffee beans mainly from Colombia, Brazil, Honduras, Peru and Ethiopia. Coffee beans imported through the New Orleans, and Savannah ports are bulk commodities, while Coffee beans imported through the New York, Oakland, Virginia, Portland, Seattle, Everglades, Jacksonville, and Houston ports are containerized (Taylor, 2013). Green coffee beans are then be transported to Starbucks' five roasting centers (Kent, WA; Minden, NV; York, PA; Gaston, SC; and Augusta, GA). After roasting, roasted coffee beans are delivered to different states around the U.S. Our study only considers the 48 continental states and Washington D.C. because Alaska and Hawaii are far away from other states and have different transportation routes. The abstract illustration of the coffee supply chain map for Starbucks is illustrated in Figure 4-1.



Figure 4-1 Top 5 Coffee Bean Exporting Countries for Starbucks

4.2 Data Sources

Table 4-1 lists the sources of all needed parameters for the optimization model. Agriculture data like current arabica coffee harvesting areas, annul export of arabica coffee bean volume, annul exported arabica coffee bean to the United States are obtained from the U.S. Department of Agriculture. Historical arabica coffee yield per hectare data from 1961 to 2018 comes from TILASTO. The occurrence of arabica coffee points is provided by Ovalle-Rivera et al. (2015). Bioclimatic variables come from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) and Worldclim. Unit fertilization and irrigation costs, roasting center capacity, coffee bean loss percentage and demand in states are from existing national and commercial databases. The demand will increase 5% every year (Statista,2019). All of those data are listed in Appendix.

Figure 4-2 shows the historical arabica coffee bean yield of the supply countries from 1961 to 2018. The arabica coffee bean yield was generally increasing over the last 57 years in those countries. For Colombia and Brazil, which are high volume production countries, the high coffee bean production year always followed by a low production year. However, there is a decreasing trend of the future arabica coffee bean yield seen form the latest years.

The based and additional arabica coffee yield is found based on the predicted future yield. The rough relationship between different shade management and management practices with the yield is estimated from existing published researches. According to Soto-Pinto et al. (2000) and H. N. de Souza et al. (2012), coffee bean yield arrives at the highest point in the medium shade cover, then decreasing with shade cover at high level. The function of the relation between yield and shade cover is:

 $Y = 5 + 0.13(shade \ cover) - 0.0013 \times (shade \ cover)^2 - 0.054 \times (\frac{coffee \ density}{100})$



Figure 4-2 Arabica coffee yield from 1961-2018

For the same harvesting field, assuming the coffee density maintains the same level, the ratio of the production of coffee bean yield for unshaded, low shaded, medium shaded, high shaded estimated is 1: 1.1: 1.65: 0.3. Based yield for different shade cover would be the product of predicted yield and the ratio. At the same level of shade cover, the yield increases 67% under full irrigation compare with low irrigation (Rahn et al., 2018). Form the research of Liu et al. (2016), the ratio of the yield of no fertilization with no irrigation, no fertilization with irrigation, fertilization with no irrigation, and fertilization with irrigation would be 1: 1.22: 3: 4. Based on that, the function of additional yield would be based yield × (additional ratio -1).

Arabica coffee yield could be affected by not only weather conditions but also management methods and government policies. To eliminate the interference of non-environmental factors, the future arabica coffee yield per hectare and harvesting area will be considered separately. The total arabica coffee yield is the product of yield per hectare and harvesting area. The next chapter will discuss more details about how to predict the future based yield through the historical yield data and bioclimatic variables. The results of based yield and additional yield under different climate scenarios will be attached in Appendix.

The costs in the coffee bean supply chain come from cultivation and transportation. Table 4-2 shows that unit shade management and management practice costs with different levels of shaded cover and input.

Table 4-3 shows the harvesting area and annul exported coffee beans of suppliers in 2019, which are assumed to maintain the same for the next 30 years.

23

Parameters	Sources
 Agriculture Historical yield/hectare (kg/ha/y) Current harvesting area (ha) Annual exported arabica coffee beans (%) Annual exported arabica coffee beans to U.S. (%) 	 TILASTO Coffee Annual - United States Department of Agriculture
 Cost Unit shade management cost (\$/ha/y) Unit management practices cost (\$/ha/y) Unit oversea shipping cost (\$/kg) Unit truck transportation cost (\$/kg) Unit roasting cost (\$/kg) 	 Jezeer et al. (2018b) Jezeer et al. (2018b) (World Freight Rates 2020) (World Freight Rates 2020) How Much Should You Pay For Coffee Beans? – JavaPresse Coffee Company
Climate Occurrence arabica coffee points (lat, long) Bioclimatic variables (°C, mm) Others	 Ovalle-Rivera et al. (2015) IPCC WorldClim
 Roasting center capacity (kg/y) 	 Supply Chain 24/7 Paper, 2017 – Starbucks Coffee Distribution Network
 Demand (kg/y) 	 Statista – Coffee Consumption U.S. 2018/2019
 Coffee bean loss percentage Before roasting (%) After roasting (%) 	 Transport Information Service – Coffee

Table 4-1 Data Sources

Table 4-2 Unit shade management and management practices cost

	Unshaded	Shaded Cover (%)				Input		
		Low	Medium	High	0-0 ^a	0-1 ^b	1-0°	1-1 ^d
Cost(\$/ha/y)	0	1633.59	1404.52	1327.99	0	987.8	1296.23	2049.83

a: no fertilization and no irrigation; b: fertilization and no irrigation; c: no fertilization and irrigation; d: fertilization and irrigation

	Colombia	Brazil	Honduras	Peru	Ethiopia
Harvesting area(ha)	925,440	1,800,400	505,120	423,550	694,330
Annual exported coffee beans (%)	85%	70%	95%	96%	56%

Table 4-3 Harvesting areas and annul exported coffee beans of suppliers

4.3 Scenarios Generation

For arabica coffee yield per hectare climate scenario generation, representative concentration pathway is a CO₂ concentration trajectory adopted by IPCC, which accounts four pathways originally: RCP26, RCP45, RCP 60 and RCP85, with CO₂ equivalent increasing progressively. In this study, GFDL-ESM2M(GE), HadGEM2-ES(HE), IPSL-CM5A-LR(ICL), MIROC5(MI) climate models under representative concentration pathway RCP45 and RCP85 emission scenarios will be investigated (ISIMIP Data Search). And we assume the probability of each climate model is equal.

For arabica coffee suitable harvesting area climate scenario generation, the 19 bioclimatic variables from the Worldclim 2.5 arc minute resolution database will be used in this study. Monthly values were averaged over 20 years periods (2021-2040 and 2041-2060) for 7 global climate models: BCC-CSM2-MR, CNRM-CM6-1, CNRM-ESM2-1, CanESM5, IPSL-CM6A-LR, MIROC-ES2L and MIROC6 for Shared Socio-Economic Pathways 585.

5 Numerical Experiments

5.1 Future Yield Prediction

K-nearest Neighbor, which is an effective machine-learning algorithm to predict the numerical target based on Euclidean distance function, is adopted for future arabica coffee bean yield per hectare prediction. The optimal k value of a testing data's closet neighbors in the feature space is found by experiments for specific training data, default setting the k value as k=1, generating prediction based on k nearest neighbors and increasing k with length 1 until the best performance of the prediction. We develop the regression model using historical meteorological data (monthly average temperature (°C) and precipitation (mm)) in harvesting seasons and historical arabica coffee yield per hectare from 1961 to 2018 with splitting 80% as training subset and 20% as testing subset. R square is used to evaluate the performance of each model. After getting the regression model, we fit the regression model with future meteorological data x(t) to get future yield per hectare Y(t). Therefore, the prediction model can be expressed as:

Y(t) = regression model(x(t), k)

In Colombia, the harvesting seasons sustain the whole year. In Brazil, the harvesting seasons are July, August and September. In Honduras, the harvesting seasons are October, November and December. In Peru, the harvesting seasons are April, May and June. In Ethiopia, the harvesting seasons are October, November and December. Besides the weather condition, yield per hectare is also affected by some other reasons like management methods and governmental policies. Detrended fluctuation analysis is a method in time series analysis to remove the linear trend. Table 5-1 shows the best-fitted trendline equations y of these five countries. Given a time series trended yield per hectare x_t of length T, where $t \in T$, detrended yield per hectare X_t is:

$$X_t = x_{2021} + x_t - y$$
Country	Trendline Equation	R-square
Honduras	y = 1.263x + 29.662	0.9216
Peru	$y = -0.00254x^3 + 0.282x^2 - 3.5817x + 532.25$	0.6047
Colombia	$y = -0.115x^2 + 13.577x + 488.79$	0.5537
Brazil	$y = 0.56x^2 - 15.049x + 566.97$	0.8617
Ethiopia	$y = -0.235x^2 + 24.058x + 100.78$	0.8222

Table 5-1 Historical yield per hectare trendline equation

In this research, we will predict both trended and detrend arabica coffee yield per hectare from 2021 to 2050 of 4 climate models: GE, HE, ICL and MI under RCP45 and RCP84 emission scenarios, which are shown as follow:



Figure 5-1 Detrended Honduras predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-

2050



Figure 5-2 Honduras predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-2050



Figure 5-3 Detrended Peru predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-2050



Figure 5-4 Peru predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-2050



Figure 5-5 Detrended Colombia predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-

2050



Figure 5-6 Colombia predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-2050



Figure 5-7 Detrended Brazil predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-2050



Figure 5-8 Brazil predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-2050



Figure 5-9 Detrended Ethiopia predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-

2050



Figure 5-10 Ethiopia predicted arabica coffee bean yield/hectare (kg/ha) from 2021-2050

The R-squared results of each regression are showing in Figure 5-6. Most of the R-squared scores are reasonable. Besides, in Colombia, the prediction might be less accurate because the R-squared scores are smaller than 0.5.

From the result, the trended predictions show that in Peru, Colombia, and Ethiopia, the arabica coffee yield per hectare will decrease every year. While in Brazil and Honduras, the arabica coffee yield per hectare will increase gradually from 2021 to 2050.



Figure 5-11 R-squared of KNN regression for arabica coffee bean yield per hectare prediction

According to some literature references and news, the historical yield per hectare increased dramatically in Brazil and Honduras affected by some other reasons, not just because of weather conditions. In the 20th Century, Brazilian coffee cultivation was extended rapidly from south to north, and the coffee economy was tightly bound with the Brazilian economy. The coffee market was highly regulated by the Brazilian government during the mid-1990s (Volsi et al., 2019). In Honduras, farmers harvest more coffee, and higher coffee prices have doubled the coffee production in less than ten years (Analysis, 2012).

In this study, the only uncertainty is climate condition, other impact factors of the arabica coffee yield per hectare like management methods and government policies are assumed to remain unchangeable. Therefore, comparing with trended values, the fluctuation of detrended predicted yield per hectare values in different weather conditions is more reasonable to use. Since the arabica coffee yield per hectare will not increase without limit. If farmers do not implement new technology, the increasing trend will not maintain. Therefore, in the next numerical experiment, we will use the detrend data to do the calculation and provide policy recommendations for farmers and coffee beverage companies based on this assumption.

The Maxent algorithm for modeling species niches and distributions, which has been proven more useful for analyzing the impact of climate change on coffee than other models, will be used to predict the future suitable areas for arabica coffee trees in this study. Studies about the effect of climate change for arabica coffee production have shown that the future suitable areas for coffee trees will shift from low latitudes to higher latitudes due to increasing temperature and changeable precipitation. It will damage the coffee production in some regions a lot, while some regions could also benefit from that. The global distribution of arabica coffee under changes in suitability in the 2030s and 2050s projected by seven global climate models is modeled. The suitability in the 2030s is predicted with the downscaled monthly future climate data for the period from 2021 to 2040, and the suitability in 2050s is predicted with the period from 2041 to 2060. We train the Maxent algorithm using the presence locations where arabica coffee grows and 20,000 random background locations. Then we apply the derived suitability function to each of the 7 global climate models in the 2030s and 2050s. Figure 5-12 shows the suitable locations used for prediction and the suitable areas for arabica coffee in one of the climate models in 2050. Comparing these two maps, the suitable area in Honduras, Peru, Colombia, and Brazil will decrease, and Ethiopia will increase.

To validate the model, we use 10 replicate runs. 80% of the presence locations are selected randomly to train the model and 20% to test the predictive performance. The model performs well with AUC values 0.9-0.94 for test data, and 0.93 for training data shows in Table 5-2.

We use Jenks natural breaks classification method to determine the suitability values into 4 classes, high suitable area, medium suitable area, low suitable area and not suitable area. For the average of these 7 climate models, Honduras would lose 28% suitability, Peru would lose 22% suitability, Colombia would lose 8% suitability, Brazil would lose 27% suitability and Ethiopia would increase 7% suitability by 2050 shown in Table 5-3.



Figure 5-12 Suitable locations used for analysis and suitable locations for arabica coffee in 2050



Table 5-2 Performance of the Maxent model across 10 replicates

After getting the suitable growing area in 2030 and 2050, we use linear interpolation to calculate other growing areas from 2021 to 2050. The result is listed in Appendix. The future arabica coffee total yield under GFDL-ESM2M (GE), HadGEM2-ES(HE), IPSL-CM5A-LR(ICL), MIROC5(MI) climate models under representative concentration pathway RCP45 and RCP85 emission scenarios from 2021 to 2050 is the product of yield per hectare under these 8 climate scenarios and the average suitable growing area. After getting the total yield, based yield and additional yield can be calculated as we mentioned before. The results are listed in Appendix. The next section is talking about the optimal solutions for coffee bean supply chain planning under different climate scenarios.

5.2 Comparison under Different Climate Scenarios

The experiment is carried out using Gourbi – an open-source optimization solver for programming. The two-stage stochastic model is constructed based on all the data and parameters that mentioned earlier. The objective is minimizing the total cost includes cultivation cost, transportation cost and shortage cost of the coffee supply chain process.

Country	Current	Suitable	Suitable	The average change in		
	harvesting area	growing area	growing area in	suitability	suitability by 2050s	
	(ha)	in 2030 (ha)	2050 (ha)			
				Average	Min	Max
Honduras	349,000	276,209	220,867	-0.28	-0.39	-0.15
Peru	388,000	316,497	294,326	-0.22	-0.31	-0.08
Colombia	925,440	893,711	807,777	-0.08	-0.19	0.06
Brazil	1,800,400	1,437,748	1,159,972	-0.27	-0.48	-0.1
Ethiopia	694,330	786,577	702,265	0.07	-0.11	0.21

Table 5-3 Changes in suitability and area (ha) of arabica coffee in 5 supply countries by 2050s

For the comparison purpose, the annual arabica coffee supply chain planning under different climate scenarios is shown in Figure 5-13. Figure 5-13 shows the results of shade management and management practices planning from 2021-2050 under 4 climate scenarios in path RCP45 and RCP85. When based yield cannot meet the demand, the model will choose a shade management method with higher yield. Then, when the based yield cannot meet the demand, the model will adjust the management practices to improve the yield. We observe that the shade management should be applied in the medium level shade, which has the highest based yield in all of these five countries in both climate scenario RCP45 and RCP85. Management practices planning will change according to the climate condition, and consumer demand in the market, which is increasing 5% annually in this experiment. As mentioned earlier, the future arabica coffee yield will decrease in Honduras, Peru, Colombia and Brazil. In Ethiopia, the arabica coffee yield will increase from 2021 to 2036 and decrease from 2037 to 2050. The total based yield could not meet the demand in 2021, and the model starts to implement management practices in Colombia first. With the demand increasing and supply decreasing, the need for fertilization and irrigation is increasing. Though all the supply countries are using the best shade management and management practices, the supply still cannot meet the demand in some years, so Starbucks will have shortage in the future. The shortage under different consumption demand and different climate scenarios will be discussed in the next section.

Figure 5-14 shows the most cost-efficient supply chain logistics network for arabica coffee bean to be delivered from Honduras, Peru, Colombia, Brazil and Ethiopia to 48 states and Washington, D.C. where have Starbucks coffee shop. Five ports: Port of Seattle, Port of Oakland,





Figure 5-13 Management practices planning under RCP45 path and RCP85 path

Port of New York, Port of Charleston and Port of Jacksonville are chosen to form the top 10 U.S. ports. This transportation map only considers the unit transportation cost. The result indicates that for all the transportation process, the shortest route will always be chosen at first. From supply countries to ports in the U.S., Ethiopia and Peru will ship the arabica coffee beans to the ports in Seattle and Oakland on the west coast. Honduras, Colombia and Brazil will ship the arabica coffee beans to the nearest roasting center, the route is: Seattle to Kent, Oakland to Minden, New York to York, Charleston to Gaston and Jacksonville to Augusta. After roasting, the roasted arabica coffee beans will be delivered to the nearest state. Since it is too complicated to consider every Starbucks' coffee stores, we use the capital city as the destination to calculate the distance between the roasting centers and states.



Figure 5-14 Starbucks coffee bean supply chain logistics network

5.3 Parameters Sensitivity Analysis

We already known that the arabica coffee beans supply could not meet the demand from the result above. The demand increasing rate is obtained from a business report of Starbucks, and it could be smaller, or bigger than 5% impacted by many events. With the changing of demand, the shortage will change as well. Therefore, in this section, the average shortage under climate model HE, GE, ICL and MI in RCP45 and RCP85 with demand increase 3%, 5% and 7% are estimated and shown in Figure 5-15.

When the demand increase, shortages will happen earlier. When the demand increases 3% annually, Starbucks will start to have shortage from 2039. If the demand increases 7% annually, Starbucks will have shortage from 2025. When we consider the increasing amount of coffee consumption around the world, the shortage will become inevitable for the whole coffee industry. To reduce loss, the coffee shops could increase the retail price of a cup of coffee and drinking coffee could become an expensive event. The decreasing of arabica coffee yield will also threat smallholders' livelihood in those poor coffee growing countries. Therefore, it is everyone's responsibility to face this coffee crisis caused by climate change. In the next section, we will talk about some policy recommendations for the local government, international coffee organizations and coffee beverage companies.



Figure 5-15 Shortage under different demand in RCP45 and RCP85

6 Discussion

6.1 Suitability Policy Recommendations for Coffee Supply Chain Management

In the next few decades, the production of arabica coffee based on our study, could not meet the consumption demand, which will hurt both arabica coffee growing countries' economy and coffee beverage companies' profit. It's the responsibility of everybody in the coffee community to enhance coffee sustainability, which covers environmental, economic and social dimensions.

Environmental sustainability mainly concerns about water conservation, forests conservation and restoration, natural disease and agricultural pests. Frist, sufficient precipitation is the essential requirement for coffee growing. Unpredictable rainfall could reduce the plantations' productivity. Building irrigation infrastructure could help farmers to supply extra water for coffee trees during dry seasons. The wet process of making coffee berry to green coffee beans needs substantial quantities of water. Therefore, more water saving methods or investment are needed. Second, growing coffee under variable trees could protect coffee trees from high temperature and too much sun and provide more natural nutrition for coffee trees. Forests conservation provides local tree species for shading. Third, possible solutions for natural disease and agricultural pests are also identified and discussed in some researches. Shade management, no chemical pesticide use, and plant fertilization are important considerations.

About the economic aspect, since most of the farmers do not have enough money to invest in their farms. Financial support from government and coffee beverage companies, such as loan products and insurance for farmers, could help them get new disease-resistant coffee bean seeds, apply advanced management techniques, and improve farm infrastructure. Then, certificated coffee, includes: Fair Trade Certified, Rainforest Alliance, Smithsonian Bird Friendly, USDA Organic and Utz Certified could tell consumers about the farming practices so that coffee beans can be sold at a higher price. In return, buyers could have the opportunity to sell coffee drink at higher retail price and improve economic sustainability. Selling and buying coffee with sustainability certifications could not only improve farmers' income but also bring a better reputation and higher profit to coffee beverage companies.

In most coffee producing countries, farmers work and live under extremely poor conditions. They are at the risk of being poisoned by pesticides and injured by cutting tools in the harvesting process, suffered air and noisy pollution in the processing coffee berry process. There is also discrimination against women and child labor issues. Therefore, in social sustainability for coffee supply chain aspect, the local government, international organization and coffee beverage companies could help with technical assistance, education, health care, living condition and labor condition. International organization and coffee beverage companies could provide technical assistance includes doing research for new coffee bean type, teaching agricultural knowledge and management techniques for farmers could improve both quality and quantity of coffee beans and save more money. The local government need to provide education for children, promote equal pay for equal work for women, and implement medical care for everyone.

6.2 Future Improvement

The modeling of arabica coffee yield is not complex in this study. The analysis of arabica coffee yield per hectare under different climate scenarios only considers the monthly average temperature and precipitation in harvesting seasons using KNN regression. The R^2 of the regression models are not high enough. In the real world, the yield per hectare data does not follow the typical theoretical assumptions. Since there are not enough high temperature and low yield training data in the historical datasets for the model to learn, the prediction may not be accurate when the temperature significantly increases in the future. The historical fluctuation in temperature

are not significant enough to capture the relationship between the climate features and yield per hectare. In the real world, it is hard to predict crop yield in a long-term period due to the large variability weathers. The crop yield could be affected by many factors, such as climate, technology, management method, policy, and price. In future research, the accuracy of arabica coffee yield model could be improved by using more factors through better analysis methods like Global Change Analysis Model.

Supply chain model structure and parameters in this study may differ from the real world. We tried to address this issue in our sensitivity analysis section via adjusting parameter values. Some parameters, like coffee price, inventory and labor cost, which may affect the coffee supply chain planning, have not been considered in this study. In future research, coffee price, inventory and labor cost could be considered in the model to see the impact of climate change on those variables.

Pests and leaf diseases could damage the coffee yield a lot, which already happened in some regions. Climate change will increase the risk of agricultural pests and diseases like coffee white stem borer. In the future research, these risks could also be considered.

7 Conclusion

In this study, optimization for arabica coffee supply chain planning under climate change is studied with the objective of minimizing the cultivation and transportation cost. We establish a two-stage stochastic model for arabica coffee supply chain with uncertain climate scenarios first. Then we used a real-world global coffee beverage company as the case study. The arabica coffee yield per hectare from 2021 to 2050 was predicted using k-nearest neighbors regression. The average monthly temperature and precipitation in the harvesting seasons are the most significant features in this regression model. The future suitable harvesting area was predicted using the Maxent algorithm, a species distribution model. Multiply yield/hectare by harvesting area is the total yield. The numerical experiment result shows that in Honduras, Peru, Colombia and Brazil, the arabica coffee yield will decrease from 2021 to 2050, in Ethiopia it will increase for several years and start to decrease for the next years. Arabica coffee production in these countries will not meet the coffee company's demand gradually. Medium-level shade management should be applied at the beginning, the percentage of the filed where apply management practices will increase as well.

Most of coffee growing plantations are owned by smallholders in the poor courtiers. They do not have enough money and technology to face this risk. Fortunately, lots of coffee beverage companies and organizations already realized the importance of developing a sustainable coffee business and start to help those farmers and plantations. In this study, we suggest several policy recommendations in environmental, economic, and social aspects for different participators in the coffee supply chain. However, no single policy is likely to meet the range of conditions on the ground. The coffee supply chain planning in the case study ignores the different climate conditions and future yield trend in different countries with the objective of minimizing the total cost. In some countries, the yield decline will be worse than other locations, but the coffee supply chain planning model does not consider that. Therefore, in those countries, the local government should come up with more adoption policies and strategies based on their own situations to face this crisis.

In future research, more factors of coffee yield prediction should be considered, and more complex interaction between the agents in the supply chain model will be focused.

References

- Statista. (2019). Coffee consumption U.S. 2018/2019, Retrieved from https://www.statista.com/statistics/804271/domestic-coffee-consumption-in-the-us/
- Statista. (2019). U.S. coffee chain market share by units, Retrieved from https://www.statista.com/statistics/250166/market-share-of-major-us-coffee-shops/
- Aerts, R., Hundera, K., Berecha, G., Gijbels, P., Baeten, M., Van Mechelen, M., ... Honnay, O. (2011). Semi-forest coffee cultivation and the conservation of Ethiopian Afromontane rainforest fragments. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 261(6), 1034–1041. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2010.12.025
- Reuters. (2012). Analysis: Honduras coffee boom feels growing pains, Retrieved from https://www.reuters.com/article/us-honduras-coffee-idUSBRE8471B320120509
- Arifin, B. (2010). Global Sustainability Regulation and Coffee Supply Chains in Lampung Province, Indonesia. Asian Journal of Agriculture and Development, 7(2), 67–89. Retrieved from http://www.6ghasae.searca.org/ajad/files/060612151523_5_Arifin 7.2.pdf
- Beske, P., Land, A., & Seuring, S. (2014). Sustainable supply chain management practices and dynamic capabilities in the food industry: A critical analysis of the literature. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 152, 131–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.12.026
- Bielecki, C. D., & Wingenbach, G. (2019). Using a livelihoods framework to analyze farmer identity and decision making during the Central American coffee leaf rust outbreak:
 implications for addressing climate change and crop diversification. *Agroecology and Sustainable Food Systems*, 43(4), 457–480.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/21683565.2019.1566191

Boreux, V., Vaast, P., Madappa, L. P., Cheppudira, K. G., Garcia, C., & Ghazoul, J. (2016).

Agroforestry coffee production increased by native shade trees, irrigation, and liming. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, *36*(3), 42. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-016-0377-7

- Bortolotto, R. P., Bruno, I. P., Reichardt, K., Timm, L. C., Amado, T. J. C., & Ferreira, A. de O. (2012). Nitrogen fertilizer (15N) leaching in a central pivot fertigated coffee crop. *Revista Ceres*, 59(4), 466–475. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0034-737X2012000400006
- Bruno, I. P., Unkovich, M. J., Bortolotto, R. P., Bacchi, O. O. S., Dourado-Neto, D., &
 Reichardt, K. (2011). Fertilizer nitrogen in fertigated coffee crop: Absorption changes in plant compartments over time. *Field Crops Research*, *124*(3), 369–377.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2011.07.004
- Bunn, C., Castro, F., & Lundy, M. (2018). The impact of climate change on coffee production in Central America. Retrieved from https://cgspace.cgiar.org/handle/10568/93348
- Bunn, C., Läderach, P., Ovalle Rivera, O., & Kirschke, D. (2015). A bitter cup: climate change profile of global production of Arabica and Robusta coffee. *Climatic Change*, *129*(1–2), 89–101. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-014-1306-x
- Camargo, M. B. P. de. (2010a). The impact of climatic variability and climate change on arabic coffee crop in Brazil. *Bragantia*, 69(1), 239–247. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0006-87052010000100030
- Camargo, M. B. P. de. (2010b). The impact of climatic variability and climate change on arabic coffee crop in Brazil. *Bragantia*, 69(1), 239–247. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0006-87052010000100030
- Cerdán, C. R., Rebolledo, M. C., Soto, G., Rapidel, B., & Sinclair, F. L. (2012). Local knowledge of impacts of tree cover on ecosystem services in smallholder coffee production

systems. Agricultural Systems, 110, 119-130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2012.03.014

Transport Informations Service. Coffee. Retrieved from https://www.tis-

gdv.de/tis_e/ware/genuss/kaffee/kaffee-htm/

- United States Department of Agriculture. (2019). Coffee Annual Report. Retrieved from https://usdasearch.usda.gov/search?utf8=√&affiliate=usda&query=coffee+annual
- Our World Data. (2018). Coffee bean yields, 1962. Retrieved from https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/coffee-yields?year=1962
- Craparo, A. C. W., Van Asten, P. J. A., Läderach, P., Jassogne, L. T. P., & Grab, S. W. (2015). Coffea arabica yields decline in Tanzania due to climate change: Global implications. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 207, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2015.03.005
- Davis, A. P., Gole, T. W., Baena, S., & Moat, J. (2012). The Impact of Climate Change on Indigenous Arabica Coffee (Coffea arabica): Predicting Future Trends and Identifying Priorities. *PLoS ONE*, 7(11), 10–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0047981
- de Oliveira Aparecido, L. E., de Souza Rolim, G., Camargo Lamparelli, R. A., de Souza, P. S., & dos Santos, E. R. (2017). Agrometeorological models for forecasting coffee yield. *Agronomy Journal*, 109(1), 249–258. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2016.03.0166
- de Souza, H. N., de Graaff, J., & Pulleman, M. M. (2012). Strategies and economics of farming systems with coffee in the Atlantic Rainforest Biome. *Agroforestry Systems*, 84(2), 227– 242. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-011-9452-x
- Dragusanu, R., Giovannucci, D., & Nunn, N. (2014). The Economics of Fair Trade. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 28(3), 217–236. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.28.3.217

Eitzinger, A., Läderach, P., Carmona, S., Navarro, C., & Collet, L. (2013). Prediction of the

impact of climate change on coffee and mango growing areas in Haiti. Centro Internacional de Agricultura Tropical (CIAT), Cali, Colombia. (August), 44.

- Elder, S. D., Zerriffi, H., & Le Billon, P. (2012). Effects of Fair Trade Certification on Social Capital: The Case of Rwandan Coffee Producers. *World Development*, 40(11), 2355–2367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2012.06.010
- Fares, A., Awal, R., Fares, S., Johnson, A. B., & Valenzuela, H. (2016). Irrigation water requirements for seed corn and coffee under potential climate change scenarios. *Journal of Water and Climate Change*, 7(1), 39–51. https://doi.org/10.2166/wcc.2015.025
- Framework Sustainable Coffee Challenge. (n.d.). Retrieved March 6, 2020, from https://www.sustaincoffee.org/framework
- GIZ. (2011). Climate change adaptation and mitigation for Kenyan coffee producers. *Appropriate Technology*, 38(2), 28–30. Retrieved from http://dapa.ciat.cgiar.org/wpcontent/uploads/2010/03/2010_01_22-CC-Report-Kenya_FINAL.pdf

GLOBAL SOCIAL IMPACT 2017 Performance Report. (n.d.).

- Harvey, C. A., Saborio-Rodríguez, M., Martinez-Rodríguez, M. R., Viguera, B., Chain-Guadarrama, A., Vignola, R., & Alpizar, F. (2018). Climate change impacts and adaptation among smallholder farmers in Central America. *Agriculture & Food Security*, 7(1), 57. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40066-018-0209-x
- Hosseini, S., Ivanov, D., & Dolgui, A. (2019). Review of quantitative methods for supply chain resilience analysis. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, *125*(February), 285–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2019.03.001
- Coffeeble. How Coffee Is Made 15 Steps From Seed To Cup. Retrieved from https://www.coffeeble.com/how-coffee-is-made/

- Garrett O. How Much Should You Pay For Coffee Beans?. Retrieved from https://www.javapresse.com/blogs/buying-coffee/how-much-pay-for-coffee-beans
- ICO. (2007). International Coffee Agreement 2007. (September), 43. Retrieved from http://dev.ico.org/documents/ica2007e.pdf

International Coffee Organization. (2020). What's New. Retrieved from http://www.ico.org/

International Organization for Standardization. (2006). Environmental management - Life cycle assessment. Retrieved from Principles and Framework. ISO website: https://scholar-google-

com.proxy.lib.utk.edu/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C43&q=Environmental+management+-+Life+cycle+assessment+-

+Principles+and+framework%3B+International+Organization+for+Standardization%3A+G eneva%2C+Switzerland%2C+2006.&btnG=

ISIMIP. (2020). ESGF-CoG. Retrieved from https://esg.pik-potsdam.de/search/isimip/

- Jaramillo, J., Muchugu, E., Vega, F. E., Davis, A., Borgemeister, C., & Chabi-Olaye, A. (2011). Some Like It Hot: The Influence and Implications of Climate Change on Coffee Berry Borer (Hypothenemus hampei) and Coffee Production in East Africa. *PLoS ONE*, 6(9), e24528. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0024528
- Jassogne, L., L\u00e4derach, P., & Asten, P. V. a N. (2013). the Impact of Climate Change on Coffee in Uganda. Oxfarm Research Reports. Oxfarm Policy and Practice: Climate Change and Resilience., 9(April), 51–66.
- Jezeer, R. E., Santos, M. J., Boot, R. G. A., Junginger, M., & Verweij, P. A. (2018a). Effects of shade and input management on economic performance of small-scale Peruvian coffee systems. *Agricultural Systems*, 162(February), 179–190.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2018.01.014

- Jezeer, R. E., Santos, M. J., Boot, R. G. A., Junginger, M., & Verweij, P. A. (2018b). Effects of shade and input management on economic performance of small-scale Peruvian coffee systems. *Agricultural Systems*, *162*(February), 179–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2018.01.014
- Jha, S., Bacon, C. M., Philpott, S. M., Ernesto Méndez, V., Läderach, P., & Rice, R. A. (2014). Shade Coffee: Update on a Disappearing Refuge for Biodiversity. *BioScience*, 64(5), 416– 428. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biu038
- Kainuma, Y., & Tawara, N. (2006). A multiple attribute utility theory approach to lean and green supply chain management. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 101(1), 99–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2005.05.010
- Kutywayo, D., Chemura, A., Kusena, W., Chidoko, P., & Mahoya, C. (2013). The Impact of Climate Change on the Potential Distribution of Agricultural Pests: The Case of the Coffee White Stem Borer (Monochamus leuconotus P.) in Zimbabwe. *PLoS ONE*, 8(8), e73432. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0073432
- Lin, B. B. (2007). Agroforestry management as an adaptive strategy against potential microclimate extremes in coffee agriculture. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, *144*(1–2), 85–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2006.12.009

Liu, X., Li, F., Zhang, Y., & Yang, Q. (2016). Effects of deficit irrigation on yield and nutritional quality of Arabica coffee (Coffea arabica) under different N rates in dry and hot region of southwest China. *Agricultural Water Management*, 172, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2016.04.007

Mafusire, A., Salami, A., A.B, K., & Lawson, F. E. (2010). Coffee Production in Africa and the

Global Market Situation. *Commodity Market Brief*, 1(2), 1–9.

- Magrach, A., & Ghazoul, J. (2015). Climate and Pest-Driven Geographic Shifts in Global Coffee Production: Implications for Forest Cover, Biodiversity and Carbon Storage. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(7), e0133071. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0133071
- Melke, A., & Ittana, F. (2014). Nutritional Requirement and Management of Arabica Coffee (Coffea arabica L.) in Ethiopia: National and Global Perspectives. *American Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 5(5), 400–418. https://doi.org/10.9734/AJEA/2015/12510
- Moat, J., Gole, T. W., & Davis, A. P. (2019). Least concern to endangered: Applying climate change projections profoundly influences the extinction risk assessment for wild Arabica coffee. *Global Change Biology*, 25(2), 390–403. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14341

Nagurney, A., & Toyasaki, F. (2003). Supply chain supernetworks and environmental criteria. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 8(3), 185–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1361-9209(02)00049-4

Nguyen, A. D., Tran, T. D., & Vo, T. P. K. (2013). Evaluation of Coffee Husk Compost for Improving Soil Fertility and Sustainable Coffee Production in Rural Central Highland of Vietnam. *Resources and Environment*, 3(4)(4), 77–82. https://doi.org/10.5923/j.re.20130304.03

- Scrapehero. (2020). Number of Starbucks locations in the United States. Retrieved from https://www.scrapehero.com/location-reports/Starbucks-USA/
- Ovalle-Rivera, O., Läderach, P., Bunn, C., Obersteiner, M., & Schroth, G. (2015). Projected shifts in Coffea arabica suitability among major global producing regions due to climate change. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(4), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0124155

Quiroga, S., Suárez, C., & Solís, J. D. (2015). Exploring coffee farmers' awareness about climate

change and water needs: Smallholders' perceptions of adaptive capacity. *Environmental Science & Policy*, *45*, 53–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2014.09.007

- Rahn, E., Liebig, T., Ghazoul, J., van Asten, P., Läderach, P., Vaast, P., ... Jassogne, L. (2018).
 Opportunities for sustainable intensification of coffee agro-ecosystems along an altitudinal gradient on Mt. Elgon, Uganda. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 263*(April), 31–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2018.04.019
- Rodríguez Mega, E. (2019). Wild coffee species threatened by climate change and deforestation. *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-019-00150-9
- Ruben, R., & Fort, R. (2012). The Impact of Fair Trade Certification for Coffee Farmers in Peru. *World Development*, 40(3), 570–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2011.07.030
- Sakai, E., Barbosa, E. A. A., Silveira, J. M. de C., & Pires, R. C. de M. (2015). Coffee productivity and root systems in cultivation schemes with different population arrangements and with and without drip irrigation. *Agricultural Water Management*, 148, 16–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2014.08.020
- Seuring, S. (2013). A review of modeling approaches for sustainable supply chain management. *Decision Support Systems*, 54(4), 1513–1520. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2012.05.053
- Seuring, S., & Müller, M. (2008). From a literature review to a conceptual framework for sustainable supply chain management. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 16(15), 1699–1710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2008.04.020
- Simonen, K. (2014). Life Cycle Assessment. In *Life Cycle Assessment* (Vol. 45). https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315778730
- Soto-Pinto, L., Perfecto, I., Castillo-Hernandez, J., & Caballero-Nieto, J. (2000). Shade effect on coffee production at the northern Tzeltal zone of the state of Chiapas, Mexico. *Agriculture*,

Ecosystems & Environment, 80(1–2), 61–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(00)00134-1

Souza, R. M. (2000). Plant-Parasitic Nematodes of Coffee.

Supply Chain 24/7 Paper. (2017). Starbucks Coffee Distribution Network. Retrieved from https://www.supplychain247.com/paper/starbucks coffee distribution network

Starbucks Stories. (2020). Sustainability. Retrieved from https://stories.starbucks.com/stories/sustainability

- Tavares, P. da S., Giarolla, A., Chou, S. C., Silva, A. J. de P., & Lyra, A. de A. (2018). Climate change impact on the potential yield of Arabica coffee in southeast Brazil. *Regional Environmental Change*, 18(3), 873–883. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-017-1236-z
- Taylor, A. (2013). Profiles of the Top U.S. Agricultural Ports. https://doi.org/10.9752/TS092.09-2013
- Ukidwe, N. U., & Bakshi, B. R. (2005). Flow of Natural versus Economic Capital in Industrial Supply Networks and Its Implications to Sustainability. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 39(24), 9759–9769. https://doi.org/10.1021/es050627n
- Verhage, F. Y. F., Anten, N. P. R., & Sentelhas, P. C. (2017). Carbon dioxide fertilization offsets negative impacts of climate change on Arabica coffee yield in Brazil. *Climatic Change*, 144(4), 671–685. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-017-2068-z

VINECKY, F., DAVRIEUX, F., MERA, A. C., ALVES, G. S. C., LAVAGNINI, G., LEROY, T., ANDRADE, A. C. (2017). Controlled irrigation and nitrogen, phosphorous and potassium fertilization affect the biochemical composition and quality of Arabica coffee beans. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 155(6), 902–918. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859616000988

- Volsi, B., Telles, T. S., Caldarelli, C. E., & Camara, M. R. G. da. (2019). The dynamics of coffee production in Brazil. *PLOS ONE*, 14(7), e0219742. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0219742
- Wahyudi, T., & Jati, M. (2012). Challenges of Sustainable Coffee Certification in Indonesia. In *ICO Seminar*.
- Wang, T.-C. (2012). The interactive trade decision-making research: An application case of novel hybrid MCDM model. *Economic Modelling*, 29(3), 926–935. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econmod.2012.02.001
- World Freight Rates. (2020). Retrieved from https://worldfreightrates.com/en/freight
- WorldClim. (2020). Retrieved from https://www.worldclim.org/
- Zabeo, A., Pizzol, L., Agostini, P., Critto, A., Giove, S., & Marcomini, A. (2011). Regional risk assessment for contaminated sites Part 1: Vulnerability assessment by multicriteria decision analysis. *Environment International*, 37(8), 1295–1306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2011.05.005

Appendix

		RC	P45		RCP85				
	GE	HE	ICL	MI	GE	HE	ICL	MI	
2021	816,329,041	823,750,372	818,756,489	810,615,731	818,290,380	819,927,888	824,016,839	817,831,783	
2022	801,278,373	823,822,452	815,939,666	815,091,803	803,232,965	820,013,119	821,181,919	822,283,029	
2023	800,666,457	816,992,281	817,409,584	808,686,214	802,614,302	813,196,099	822,633,739	815,852,614	
2024	804,431,943	815,166,807	810,384,380	809,344,442	806,373,039	811,383,775	815,590,438	816,486,016	
2025	802,933,458	819,422,362	812,452,841	800,844,206	804,867,807	815,652,481	817,640,802	807,960,954	
2026	799,987,050	819,711,757	817,040,689	801,671,097	801,914,651	815,955,027	822,210,552	808,763,019	
2027	798,725,777	809,602,271	800,363,192	787,366,263	800,646,630	805,858,692	805,514,957	794,433,359	
2028	789,644,799	804,844,580	794,781,192	790,226,638	791,558,905	801,114,152	799,914,860	797,268,908	
2029	787,600,035	804,793,324	795,242,106	785,130,553	789,507,393	801,076,047	800,357,676	792,147,997	
2030	786,992,313	799,720,973	790,761,667	793,994,711	788,892,923	796,016,846	795,859,139	800,987,330	
2031	780,938,822	796,848,334	791,805,144	785,275,424	782,830,295	793,162,016	796,878,109	792,234,424	
2032	785,260,259	795,749,327	784,311,364	781,841,048	787,142,594	792,080,817	789,359,823	788,766,429	
2033	772,077,530	797,557,322	784,154,853	771,069,031	773,950,727	793,906,619	789,178,804	777,960,795	
2034	769,094,297	786,627,040	783,291,700	774,582,429	770,958,357	782,994,146	788,291,145	781,440,574	
2035	762,470,692	792,398,887	773,379,982	771,304,737	764,325,614	788,783,802	778,354,919	778,129,263	
2036	766,298,612	772,984,007	770,518,399	765,189,784	768,144,397	769,386,730	775,468,829	771,980,693	
2037	754,557,810	781,995,227	768,604,421	759,156,139	756,394,457	778,415,758	773,530,344	765,913,429	
2038	754,880,271	778,104,704	758,824,581	760,306,682	756,707,781	774,543,043	763,725,997	767,030,353	
2039	753,071,779	763,574,485	768,171,575	752,222,336	754,890,151	760,030,632	773,048,484	758,912,389	
2040	744,701,394	769,027,847	755,936,950	752,307,083	746,510,629	765,501,802	760,789,352	758,963,518	
2041	747,516,112	768,978,230	753,530,495	740,061,746	749,316,209	765,469,995	758,358,390	746,684,562	
2042	746,757,819	756,740,783	749,728,542	740,271,657	748,548,778	753,250,356	754,531,930	746,860,856	
2043	738,329,999	757,755,122	743,817,266	739,356,870	740,111,821	754,282,503	748,596,147	745,912,449	
2044	736,132,618	746,534,147	745,436,402	743,438,200	737,905,302	743,079,336	750,190,775	749,960,162	
2045	735,327,852	744,210,876	741,593,946	733,442,526	737,091,399	740,773,874	746,323,813	739,930,869	
2046	724,361,922	734,485,286	735,839,225	729,894,414	726,116,331	731,066,092	740,544,584	736,349,139	
2047	726,301,867	737,406,915	729,798,396	729,386,340	728,047,138	734,005,529	734,479,248	735,807,447	
2048	721,347,014	735,884,924	728,174,233	715,812,592	723,083,148	732,501,346	732,830,578	722,200,080	
2049	714,667,955	721,407,098	723,316,210	721,466,348	716,394,952	718,041,329	727,948,048	727,820,218	
2050	708,186,204	720,435,483	722,806,680	717,649,066	709,904,064	717,087,522	727,414,011	723,969,317	

Table A - 1 Colombia predicted coffee bean yield (Tons) from 2021-2050

		RC	P45		RCP85				
	GE	HE	ICL	MI	GE	HE	ICL	MI	
2021	3,024,892,516	3,032,469,944	3,043,203,773	3,036,614,779	3,024,892,516	3,032,469,944	3,053,948,881	3,036,614,779	
2022	2,939,695,041	2,975,595,015	2,980,644,838	2,987,849,066	2,939,695,041	2,975,595,015	2,991,169,060	2,987,849,066	
2023	2,881,974,315	2,905,780,121	2,926,003,035	2,918,505,469	2,881,974,315	2,905,780,121	2,936,306,371	2,918,505,469	
2024	2,832,048,817	2,845,307,200	2,855,669,080	2,862,211,937	2,832,048,817	2,845,307,200	2,865,751,529	2,862,211,937	
2025	2,772,314,579	2,795,591,304	2,801,803,483	2,789,383,936	2,772,314,579	2,795,591,304	2,811,665,046	2,789,383,936	
2026	2,709,964,215	2,738,470,548	2,752,007,318	2,733,227,652	2,709,964,215	2,738,470,548	2,761,647,994	2,733,227,652	
2027	2,650,509,100	2,663,330,281	2,665,294,889	2,650,915,943	2,650,509,100	2,663,330,281	2,674,714,679	2,650,915,943	
2028	2,577,827,214	2,597,666,255	2,598,147,161	2,598,194,928	2,577,827,214	2,597,666,255	2,607,346,065	2,598,194,928	
2029	2,517,142,192	2,539,869,215	2,541,122,011	2,532,009,408	2,517,142,192	2,539,869,215	2,550,100,028	2,532,009,408	
2030	2,458,717,650	2,473,800,944	2,475,920,791	2,488,442,826	2,458,717,650	2,473,800,944	2,484,677,921	2,488,442,826	
2031	2,431,332,343	2,451,460,110	2,459,759,817	2,456,556,601	2,431,332,343	2,451,460,110	2,468,432,353	2,456,556,601	
2032	2,420,509,998	2,431,929,230	2,429,922,450	2,433,166,761	2,420,509,998	2,431,929,230	2,438,510,391	2,433,166,761	
2033	2,381,814,465	2,416,961,889	2,411,773,173	2,398,141,173	2,381,814,465	2,416,961,889	2,420,276,519	2,398,141,173	
2034	2,359,353,898	2,381,815,935	2,392,450,626	2,385,754,977	2,359,353,898	2,381,815,935	2,400,869,377	2,385,754,977	
2035	2,331,169,736	2,372,986,223	2,358,884,854	2,362,596,622	2,331,169,736	2,372,986,223	2,367,219,010	2,362,596,622	
2036	2,319,342,299	2,324,693,751	2,336,420,917	2,335,002,137	2,319,342,299	2,324,693,751	2,344,670,478	2,335,002,137	
2037	2,283,223,032	2,320,782,123	2,315,412,071	2,307,572,375	2,283,223,032	2,320,782,123	2,323,577,038	2,307,572,375	
2038	2,265,860,467	2,296,737,182	2,282,228,041	2,291,271,236	2,265,860,467	2,296,737,182	2,290,308,413	2,291,271,236	
2039	2,245,157,051	2,256,357,051	2,278,510,635	2,260,708,091	2,245,157,051	2,256,357,051	2,286,506,412	2,260,708,091	
2040	2,214,401,666	2,246,668,941	2,241,618,547	2,242,690,403	2,214,401,666	2,246,668,941	2,249,529,729	2,242,690,403	
2041	2,200,705,535	2,228,466,009	2,219,791,390	2,205,887,780	2,200,705,535	2,228,466,009	2,227,617,977	2,205,887,780	
2042	2,181,501,519	2,191,800,548	2,195,833,276	2,188,031,980	2,181,501,519	2,191,800,548	2,203,575,268	2,188,031,980	
2043	2,150,735,774	2,175,166,586	2,168,709,731	2,168,418,474	2,150,735,774	2,175,166,586	2,176,367,128	2,168,418,474	
2044	2,129,345,588	2,140,195,804	2,152,855,534	2,156,205,902	2,129,345,588	2,140,195,804	2,160,428,337	2,156,205,902	
2045	2,109,991,352	2,118,548,599	2,128,806,258	2,122,981,504	2,109,991,352	2,118,548,599	2,136,294,467	2,122,981,504	
2046	2,075,610,843	2,085,966,789	2,101,939,391	2,099,369,496	2,075,610,843	2,085,966,789	2,109,343,004	2,099,369,496	
2047	2,060,259,200	2,072,011,423	2,074,688,820	2,080,204,134	2,060,259,200	2,072,011,423	2,082,007,839	2,080,204,134	
2048	2,034,769,883	2,051,465,386	2,053,905,228	2,041,968,021	2,034,769,883	2,051,465,386	2,061,139,651	2,041,968,021	
2049	2,006,809,881	2,012,147,562	2,028,405,736	2,031,708,955	2,006,809,881	2,012,147,562	2,035,555,565	2,031,708,955	
2050	1,979,188,011	1,992,426,326	2,009,170,199	2,007,670,330	1,979,188,011	1,992,426,326	2,016,235,433	2,007,670,330	

Table A - 2 Brazil predicted coffee bean yield (Tons) from 2021-2050

		RC	P45		RCP85					
	GE	HE	ICL	MI	GE	HE	ICL	MI		
2021	369,120,377	367,870,465	362,613,670	364,349,202	369,120,377	362,120,704	363,249,920	363,726,450		
2022	356,802,872	360,645,942	353,663,601	359,608,136	356,802,872	355,464,486	355,512,178	358,622,118		
2023	349,806,540	351,552,083	347,112,454	350,047,119	349,806,540	346,303,954	349,305,638	349,533,752		
2024	344,315,309	343,282,038	340,689,111	343,598,210	344,315,309	338,951,056	340,064,154	342,969,352		
2025	336,926,275	337,541,292	331,491,430	331,392,632	336,926,275	333,674,471	334,004,863	333,210,441		
2026	329,031,778	330,659,374	324,276,965	325,798,827	329,031,778	326,965,062	328,727,521	326,671,065		
2027	321,695,339	320,587,726	317,741,565	321,369,843	321,695,339	316,780,963	316,331,018	315,088,762		
2028	311,811,399	312,412,371	310,521,572	312,016,390	311,811,399	308,426,044	307,710,307	309,210,984		
2029	304,238,987	307,132,886	298,518,984	300,105,963	304,238,987	301,585,428	301,038,283	300,739,855		
2030	297,100,325	298,416,100	295,153,579	296,697,309	297,100,325	293,153,871	292,793,267	296,615,703		
2031	293,426,109	293,477,188	290,414,274	294,017,713	293,426,109	290,515,926	291,349,662	292,137,119		
2032	292,932,027	290,361,419	288,570,637	288,351,526	292,932,027	288,417,191	287,279,479	289,290,712		
2033	287,087,233	286,803,144	284,536,621	288,872,675	287,087,233	287,193,566	285,453,079	284,211,328		
2034	284,358,913	286,291,004	281,805,811	282,775,217	284,358,913	282,097,836	283,400,762	283,476,394		
2035	280,532,904	280,984,002	279,195,391	280,009,312	280,532,904	282,049,933	278,616,596	280,674,166		
2036	279,842,740	275,367,948	275,923,817	275,820,221	279,842,740	274,435,728	275,961,823	277,021,522		
2037	274,496,514	276,127,891	272,051,277	272,905,999	274,496,514	275,328,492	273,585,608	273,401,005		
2038	272,744,463	270,651,443	271,086,465	273,984,829	272,744,463	272,362,224	268,877,182	271,912,351		
2039	270,351,832	272,265,795	266,450,109	268,867,461	270,351,832	266,268,843	269,811,174	267,692,221		
2040	266,035,245	265,141,379	263,964,838	265,243,975	266,035,245	266,051,127	264,393,802	265,873,770		
2041	264,982,700	261,808,534	262,687,594	260,923,181	264,982,700	264,202,403	261,860,010	260,461,403		
2042	262,875,428	257,757,515	260,672,429	258,013,556	262,875,428	258,823,025	258,918,453	258,673,493		
2043	258,558,014	259,688,195	256,049,103	255,925,921	258,558,014	257,273,697	255,372,008	256,548,639		
2044	256,032,580	254,394,562	252,381,592	253,171,059	256,032,580	252,220,730	253,978,563	255,836,572		
2045	253,895,379	251,279,350	252,426,634	250,661,108	253,895,379	249,713,344	251,019,123	251,111,045		
2046	248,890,164	250,583,339	245,421,418	249,035,077	248,890,164	245,119,091	247,522,058	248,221,401		
2047	247,516,057	244,777,094	243,541,487	243,323,617	247,516,057	244,078,830	243,952,363	246,179,719		
2048	244,207,905	243,726,259	241,930,037	241,738,637	244,207,905	241,780,329	241,616,007	240,501,931		
2049	240,429,401	239,429,320	238,973,173	239,128,208	240,429,401	235,904,889	238,380,565	240,156,992		
2050	236,716,149	236,608,841	235,351,754	235,713,302	236,716,149	233,763,984	236,338,135	237,185,481		

Table A - 3 Honduras predicted coffee bean yield (Tons) from 2021-2050

		RC	P45		RCP85					
	GE	HE	ICL	MI	GE	HE	ICL	MI		
2021	292,488,537	299,760,263	302,938,002	294,764,482	296,179,139	302,977,352	297,501,815	300,035,347		
2022	289,381,460	296,935,284	295,501,367	288,562,625	292,844,361	296,629,108	292,085,256	294,267,356		
2023	283,267,852	287,518,840	288,883,106	286,078,514	283,722,098	290,020,322	287,395,788	289,390,747		
2024	277,307,286	283,615,797	282,650,492	277,870,734	278,187,522	282,681,998	280,844,579	282,039,996		
2025	275,143,363	280,424,114	278,845,557	271,776,958	274,707,491	278,705,451	274,525,836	276,993,301		
2026	265,783,039	275,156,023	272,972,775	268,617,116	271,430,712	270,106,271	271,829,567	272,558,874		
2027	260,436,029	263,150,244	265,801,173	260,956,145	265,431,277	267,707,842	264,082,264	263,624,472		
2028	258,316,484	259,871,009	265,063,211	261,393,999	258,638,562	259,001,608	256,623,642	260,125,259		
2029	252,041,573	253,657,783	257,437,781	255,042,090	252,002,117	256,084,921	253,613,491	254,854,211		
2030	245,466,491	248,115,946	251,750,254	245,481,554	246,503,200	250,442,174	249,491,439	252,054,427		
2031	245,862,823	247,346,485	248,370,079	244,160,659	245,961,546	251,934,522	248,427,600	245,718,691		
2032	242,363,386	246,164,251	247,680,351	245,517,016	242,634,064	249,750,126	244,942,944	248,584,412		
2033	241,145,393	244,421,370	244,557,107	242,902,063	245,004,090	247,346,695	243,772,893	245,865,091		
2034	243,897,620	246,655,770	247,086,540	245,895,612	241,852,186	246,937,329	245,995,937	244,961,255		
2035	243,574,374	244,282,232	244,866,529	241,182,402	241,229,004	242,126,810	242,343,028	242,263,947		
2036	240,888,880	244,917,660	247,490,844	239,256,167	241,809,096	243,724,472	240,369,665	243,423,950		
2037	241,335,625	242,130,039	245,577,743	240,641,341	239,279,132	240,400,416	240,249,409	241,247,722		
2038	241,586,791	242,503,673	243,253,173	242,505,980	239,909,768	244,354,763	241,973,035	239,672,888		
2039	239,609,137	240,486,330	241,452,396	239,895,418	239,045,228	244,850,247	240,047,243	242,446,525		
2040	234,307,461	242,674,787	243,014,374	239,988,958	239,876,388	241,655,748	238,030,974	238,508,451		
2041	234,795,959	241,880,134	239,701,598	237,742,662	236,630,804	240,905,391	239,878,809	238,171,379		
2042	237,836,447	237,029,108	240,825,363	234,120,077	239,573,502	238,959,494	237,144,694	237,677,258		
2043	236,261,913	238,585,181	238,267,597	236,848,765	236,757,369	237,898,419	236,111,635	235,786,909		
2044	236,278,036	239,236,635	237,076,669	234,070,158	235,587,590	240,856,991	237,075,900	234,490,772		
2045	232,405,061	235,695,600	237,117,057	236,736,584	235,856,112	235,338,023	232,629,676	238,811,638		
2046	233,081,365	237,716,189	235,644,467	232,618,510	232,339,624	236,517,315	235,988,786	237,928,785		
2047	229,975,061	233,637,713	233,033,992	229,840,003	231,942,561	233,480,649	231,983,000	236,700,632		
2048	231,567,223	233,605,621	233,186,702	230,876,560	233,246,740	234,762,084	230,338,954	233,712,717		
2049	232,010,378	233,138,834	232,314,976	230,699,009	230,572,419	231,481,004	234,618,539	232,057,839		
2050	227,435,748	233,473,234	231,093,427	228,342,941	228,891,170	232,462,115	232,154,376	230,362,482		

Table A - 4 Peru predicted coffee bean yield (Tons) from 2021-2050

		RC	P45		RCP85				
	GE	HE	ICL	MI	GE	HE	ICL	MI	
2021	494,963,248	455,868,220	441,965,389	449,246,652	467,642,728	529,865,919	553,157,568	498,723,600	
2022	491,958,854	464,099,082	447,760,226	460,771,051	464,280,121	539,067,003	560,410,304	510,896,716	
2023	500,023,892	466,963,176	456,934,223	463,903,006	471,986,945	542,901,320	571,042,199	514,677,389	
2024	511,651,142	473,734,259	459,412,677	472,601,702	483,255,982	550,642,624	574,978,551	524,024,804	
2025	519,162,365	485,481,689	469,185,466	473,934,327	490,408,992	563,360,277	586,209,239	526,006,146	
2026	525,509,838	494,133,444	481,169,307	482,833,180	496,398,251	572,982,254	599,650,978	535,553,717	
2027	533,269,362	494,130,542	475,480,516	479,113,193	503,799,562	573,949,574	595,420,085	532,482,448	
2028	534,396,052	498,503,680	478,895,777	489,738,548	504,568,038	579,292,935	600,293,245	543,756,521	
2029	541,454,233	506,905,087	487,474,869	493,617,544	511,268,006	588,664,563	610,330,235	548,284,235	
2030	549,796,993	510,961,963	491,792,388	509,721,382	519,252,552	593,691,662	616,105,652	565,036,790	
2031	544,853,750	509,078,676	493,418,708	502,677,600	514,473,009	591,364,993	617,065,729	557,696,552	
2032	549,033,798	508,753,708	487,534,776	500,284,847	518,816,757	590,596,645	610,515,553	555,007,341	
2033	537,825,819	510,980,231	488,101,359	491,444,543	507,772,477	592,379,787	610,415,892	545,870,581	
2034	535,583,882	502,015,013	488,043,742	495,155,903	505,694,240	582,971,188	609,692,031	549,285,484	
2035	530,146,227	507,715,343	480,041,764	492,899,771	500,420,284	588,228,136	601,023,809	546,732,894	
2036	533,878,785	491,313,908	478,229,855	488,154,476	504,316,542	571,383,321	598,545,656	541,691,142	
2037	523,955,841	499,847,051	477,247,642	483,482,851	494,557,298	579,473,082	596,897,199	536,723,060	
2038	524,609,643	497,063,756	469,372,282	485,107,531	495,374,800	576,246,406	588,355,595	538,051,282	
2039	523,393,370	484,964,802	478,249,839	478,641,339	494,322,227	563,704,071	596,566,908	531,288,633	
2040	516,433,190	490,363,301	468,228,956	479,327,863	487,525,747	568,659,188	585,879,782	531,678,701	
2041	519,259,156	490,939,520	466,811,682	469,227,749	490,515,412	568,792,027	583,796,263	521,282,130	
2042	518,955,365	480,860,121	464,173,289	470,021,979	490,375,321	558,269,246	580,491,627	521,779,902	
2043	511,949,738	482,363,879	459,692,606	469,829,545	483,533,394	559,329,624	575,344,700	521,291,012	
2044	510,387,391	473,182,799	461,787,056	473,994,726	482,134,746	549,705,163	576,772,906	525,159,735	
2045	510,038,005	471,771,196	459,111,398	465,872,051	481,949,060	547,850,179	573,431,004	516,740,603	
2046	500,827,660	463,905,202	454,768,802	463,376,759	472,902,415	539,540,803	568,422,165	513,948,853	
2047	502,868,276	467,063,371	450,179,160	463,529,461	475,106,730	542,255,591	563,166,278	513,805,099	
2048	498,899,968	466,345,307	449,437,030	452,303,944	471,302,122	541,094,146	561,757,905	502,283,124	
2049	493,432,998	454,353,301	445,878,965	457,817,218	465,998,852	528,658,759	557,533,596	507,499,942	
2050	488,140,973	454,115,866	446,102,606	455,085,420	460,870,526	527,977,943	557,090,993	504,471,687	

Table A - 5 Ethiopia predicted coffee bean yield (Tons) from 2021-2050

	Colombia	Brazil	Honduras	Peru	Ethiopia
2021	922,267	1,764,135	341,721	380,850	703,555
2022	919,094	1,727,870	334,442	373,699	712,779
2023	915,921	1,691,604	327,163	366,549	722,004
2024	912,748	1,655,339	319,883	359,399	731,229
2025	909,575	1,619,074	312,604	352,249	740,453
2026	906,402	1,582,809	305,325	345,098	749,678
2027	903,229	1,546,544	298,046	337,948	758,903
2028	900,057	1,510,278	290,767	330,798	768,127
2029	896,884	1,474,013	283,488	323,647	777,352
2030	893,711	1,437,748	276,209	316,497	786,577
2031	889,414	1,423,859	273,442	315,389	782,361
2032	885,117	1,409,970	270,674	314,280	778,146
2033	880,821	1,396,082	267,907	313,171	773,930
2034	876,524	1,382,193	265,140	312,063	769,714
2035	872,227	1,368,304	262,373	310,954	765,499
2036	867,931	1,354,415	259,606	309,846	761,283
2037	863,634	1,340,526	256,839	308,737	757,068
2038	859,337	1,326,638	254,072	307,629	752,852
2039	855,040	1,312,749	251,305	306,520	748,637
2040	850,744	1,298,860	248,538	305,411	744,421
2041	846,447	1,284,971	245,771	304,303	740,205
2042	842,150	1,271,082	243,004	303,194	735,990
2043	837,854	1,257,194	240,237	302,086	731,774
2044	833,557	1,243,305	237,470	300,977	727,559
2045	829,260	1,229,416	234,703	299,869	723,343
2046	824,964	1,215,527	231,935	298,760	719,128
2047	820,667	1,201,638	229,168	297,651	714,912
2048	816,370	1,187,750	226,401	296,543	710,696
2049	812,074	1,173,861	223,634	295,434	706,481
2050	807,777	1,159,972	220,867	294,326	702,265

Table A - 6 Suitable harvested area (ha) from 2021 to 2050

Roasting Centers	Cost(\$/kg)
Kent, WA	1.5
Minden, NV	1.5
York, PA	1.5
Gaston, SC	1.5
Augusta, GA	1.5

Table A - 7 Unit roasting cost in roasting centers

Table A - 8 Unit ocean shipping cost (\$/kg) from source countries to ports

	Everglades FL	New Orleans	New York	Savannah GA	Seattle WA	Norfolk VG	Houston TX	Charleston SC	Oakland CA	Jacksonville FL
		LA	NY							
Honduras	0.11	0.08	0.09	0.11	0.08	0.10	0.08	0.11	0.08	0.08
Peru	0.08	0.07	0.09	0.08	0.06	0.09	0.08	0.08	0.05	0.07
Colombia	0.04	0.04	0.07	0.04	0.04	0.07	0.04	0.04	0.09	0.04
Brazil	0.11	0.13	0.08	0.11	0.15	0.08	0.13	0.10	0.14	0.11
Ethiopia	0.14	0.13	0.12	0.14	0.10	0.12	0.14	0.13	0.10	0.14

Table A - 9 Unit transportation cost (\$/kg) from ports to roasting centers

	Kent, WA	Minden, NV	York, PA	Gaston, SC	Augusta, GA
Everglades, FL	1.40	1.00	0.56	0.27	0.26
New Orleans, CA	0.93	0.93	0.64	0.35	0.32
New York, NY	1.20	0.94	0.10	0.33	0.35
Savannah, GA	1.40	0.98	0.34	0.15	0.13
Seattle, WA	0.07	0.35	1.40	1.40	1.40
Norfolk, VG	1.40	1.00	0.15	0.18	0.21
Houston, TX	0.97	0.67	0.79	0.48	0.45
Charleston, SC	1.40	1.00	0.32	0.12	0.15
Oakland, CA	0.55	0.13	1.50	1.40	1.40
Jacksonville, FL	1.20	0.90	0.40	0.12	0.11

Table A - 10 Unit transportation cost (\$/kg) from roasting centers to states

Roasting centers		States								
	AI	AZ	AK	CA	CO	CT				
Kent, WA	1.3285	0.6633	1.1502	0.5312	0.6370	1.4960				

Roasting centers	States					
Minden, NV	1.2779	0.4329	1.0481	0.2570	0.5269	1.5165
York, PA	0.3985	0.7747	0.4819	0.9028	0.6290	0.1536
Gaston, SC	0.1787	0.7612	0.3614	0.8884	0.8700	0.4246
Augusta, GA	0.1503	0.7398	0.3329	0.8670	0.8388	0.4524
	DE	<u>DC</u>	FL	GA	ID	IL
Kent, WA	1.4443	1.3455	1.5246	1.2805	0.2635	1.0145
Minden, NV	1.4619	1.4005	1.3229	1.2660	0.3233	0.9158
York, PA	0.1297	0.1093	0.5651	0.3332	0.9802	0.2937
Gaston, SC	0.3038	0.2238	0.2796	0.0945	1.1439	0.4474
Augusta, GA	0.3317	0.2486	0.1831	0.0685	1.1161	0.4162
	IN	IA	KS	KY	LA	ME
Kent, WA	1.1000	0.8586	0.8296	1.1635	1.2705	1.5915
Minden, NV	1.0308	0.7952	0.8187	1.0725	1.1574	1.6173
York, PA	0.3113	0.3797	0.4608	0.2137	0.5406	0.2534
Gaston, SC	0.3408	0.5968	0.5667	0.2098	0.3587	0.5243
Augusta, GA	0.3470	0.5639	0.5361	0.2150	0.3302	0.5522
	MD	MA	MI	MN	MS	МО
Kent, WA	1.3540	1.5407	0.8157	0.8134	1.2691	0.9739
Minden, NV	1.4097	1.5637	0.8591	0.8804	1.1443	0.8752
York, PA	0.1008	0.2023	0.4044	0.4104	0.4664	0.3553
Gaston, SC	0.2386	0.4732	0.6479	0.6564	0.2893	0.4827
Augusta, GA	0.2633	0.5011	0.6234	0.6864	0.2609	0.4515
	MT	NE	NV	NH	NJ	NM
Kent, WA	0.3101	0.8158	0.3419	1.5298	1.4383	0.6492
Minden, NV	0.6477	0.7057	0.0884	1.5521	1.4556	0.5459
York, PA	0.8873	0.4521	0.8873	0.2293	0.1275	0.7674
Gaston, SC	1.0958	0.6505	0.9690	0.5003	0.3371	0.8492
Augusta, GA	1.0680	0.6194	0.9476	0.5298	0.3649	0.8186
	NY	NC	ND	OH	OK	OR
Kent, WA	1.4441	1.4001	0.6604	1.1631	0.8916	0.1098
Minden, NV	1.4617	1.4317	0.9751	1.1177	0.7862	0.3693
York, PA	0.0953	0.1695	0.6280	0.1516	0.5424	1.1759
Gaston, SC	0.3663	0.1082	0.7909	0.2676	0.5634	1.3702
Augusta, GA	0.3941	0.1329	0.8204	0.2925	0.5329	1.3424
	PA	RI	SC	SD	TN	TX
Kent, WA	1.3765	1.5341	1.3758	0.6863	1.1615	0.9573

Roasting centers	States					
Minden, NV	1.3903	1.5567	1.3785	0.9541	1.1561	0.8641
York, PA	0.0888	0.1866	0.2612	0.6093	0.3249	0.6557
Gaston, SC	0.2994	0.4575	0.0670	0.7652	0.2068	0.6111
Augusta, GA	0.3255	0.4854	0.1269	0.7375	0.1807	0.5807
	UT	VT	VA	WA	WV	WI
Kent, WA	0.3882	1.5250	1.3908	0.0864	1.2427	0.9440
Minden, NV	0.3344	1.5471	1.4276	0.4795	1.2606	0.9395
York, PA	0.7051	0.2537	0.0929	1.1583	0.1647	0.3140
Gaston, SC	0.7713	0.5247	0.1751	1.3901	0.1693	0.5169
Augusta, GA	0.7499	0.5525	0.1999	1.3624	0.1924	0.5500
	WY					
Kent, WA	0.6575					
Minden, NV	0.6919					
York, PA	0.6748					
Gaston, SC	0.7907					
Augusta, GA	0.7630					

Table A - 10 Continued

Table A - 11 Annual percentage of coffee beans exported

Country	Percentage
Honduras	95%
Peru	96%
Colombia	85%
Brazil	70%
Ethiopia	56%

Table A - 12 Coffee beans demand in state in 2021

State	Demand	State	Demand
AL	3,250,334.32	NE	2,217,875.19
AZ	18,660,742.94	NV	9,674,524.52
AR	2,103,157.50	NH	1,108,937.59
CA	107,872,860.33	NJ	9,980,438.34
State	Demand	State	Demand
-------	---------------	-------	---------------
CO	18,393,068.35	NM	2,906,181.28
CT	4,703,424.96	NY	24,664,301.63
DE	955,980.68	NC	12,924,858.84
DC	3,479,769.69	ND	497,109.96
FL	26,538,023.77	OH	14,454,427.93
GA	12,465,988.11	OK	3,020,898.96
ID	2,562,028.23	OR	13,727,882.62
IL	21,987,555.72	PA	13,651,404.16
IN	8,450,869.24	RI	1,032,459.14
IA	3,403,291.23	SC	5,009,338.78
KS	3,594,487.37	SD	955,980.68
KY	4,435,750.37	TN	6,883,060.92
LA	3,212,095.10	ΤX	39,845,274.89
ME	1,147,176.82	UT	3,862,161.96
MD	9,827,481.43	VT	305,913.82
MA	10,439,309.06	VA	16,519,346.21
MI	10,821,701.34	WA	28,947,095.10
MN	7,036,017.83	WV	955,980.68
MS	1,223,655.27	WI	5,544,687.96
MO	7,188,974.74	WY	879,502.23
MT	1,376,612.18		

Table A – 12 Continued

Table A - 13 Percentage of coffee beans exported to the United States

Country	Percentage
Colombia	43%
Brazil	19.5%
Honduras	27%
Peru	27%
Ethiopia	11%

State	Locations	Percentage
California	3032	20%
Texas	1202	7%
Florida	780	5%
Washington	778	5%
New York	695	4%

Table A - 14 Number of Starbucks locations by state

Table A - 15 Roasting center capacity in 2021

Roasting center	Capacity	
Kent, WA	56,439,927.46	
Minden, NV	284,866,044.75	
York, PA	108,076,339.53	
Gaston, SC	115,281,306.31	
Augusta, GA	132,186,727.68	

Rui Zhou was born in Sichuan, China, on February 28, 1996. She enrolled into Nanchang Aviation University, major in Industrial Engineering in 2014. She participated in a research on the linkage mechanism of auto parts industry and logistics industry in her undergraduate school. She plans to graduate from the University of Tennessee with a Master of Science degree in Industrial and Systems Engineering in December 2020. She was admitted to the Industrial and Systems Engineering Ph.D. program in University of Tennessee in fall 2020.